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Vivion Investments S.à r.l., (the “Company” or “Vivion” and together with its consolidated subsidiaries 
the “Group”) hereby presents its annual report including its audited consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Company is a commercial real estate company, focusing on 
the ownership, management, improvement and selective acquisition and disposal of properties pre-
dominantly in the United Kingdom and Germany.

The Company was formed in Luxemburg on 19 October 2018 and was registered with the Luxembourg 
Register of Trade and Companies (Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés Luxembourg) on 26 October 
2018 under number B228676. The Company and has its registered address at 155 Rue Cents, L-1319, 
Luxembourg. 

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019 was EUR 12,002 divided 
into 12,002 shares with nominal value of EUR 1 each.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Vivion are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
of Matanya Holdings Limited, being the largest and smallest body of which Vivion forms part as subsidiary. 

Important events in 2019 and future developments

	 Hotel restructuring
	� In August 2019 we completed the transfer of our hotel operations from our UK Portfolio to af-

filiated operating companies outside of the Group (the “Hotel OpCos”), whereby the operations 
of forty-six hotels were transferred outside of the Group and long-term operational leases have 
been entered into between the relevant property-owning companies within the Group (each a 
“Hotel PropCo”) and the Hotel OpCos (the “PropCo Reorganisation”). Subsequent to the Propco 
Reorganisation all our UK portfolio is leased in long term operational leases.   

	 Significant acquisitions and disposals
	 �In January 2019 the Group acquired 26 hotels in the United Kingdom in a share deal for a con-

sideration of GBP 55.0 million (EUR 62.8 million). As part of the asset and liabilities acquired, 
the Group acquired third party liabilities in the amount of GBP 167.0 million (EUR 190.6 million). 
In order to repay these liabilities on the day of acquisition, the Group received a bank loan on the 
same day of GBP 133.6 million (EUR 152.5 million).  

	� During the Reporting Period, the Group gained control over 15 properties through acquisitions 
of companies. The acquisitions were completed for a total consideration of EUR 875.2 million 
primarily located in Germany. 

	� In June 2019 the Group completed the sale of one of its subsidiaries, which owned a property in 
Germany for a selling price of EUR 110.0 million, subject to working capital and other pricing 
adjustments. 

	� In December 2019 the Group completed the disposal of one hotel in London for a considera-
tion of GBP 90 million (EUR 105.8 million), subject to working capital adjustments. The Group 
recognized a profit from the disposal of the hotel of GBP 24.0 million (EUR 28.3 million) in the 
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reporting period.

	
Financing

	 �
On 8 August 2019 the Company issued its EUR 700 million 3.000% senior notes due 2024. On 1 
November 2019 the Company issued its EUR 300 million 3.500% senior notes due 2025.

	� On 30 August 2019 and 3 September 2019, the Group repaid existing bank loans, with the pro-
ceeds of the senior notes due 2024. Both a Euro Loan was repaid in amount of EUR 81.9 million 
as well as GBP denominated loans in aggregated amount of GBP 316.7 million (EUR 350.5 mil-
lion).  

	�
As part of an asset acquisition in January 2019, the group acquired bank loans in aggregate 
amount of EUR 52 million with an annual weighted average interest rate of 2.25%.

	� On 30 September 2019, the Group refinanced an existing bank loan in amount of EUR 105.1 mil-
lion with 3M Euribor + 1.54%, maturing September 2024. 

	� On 2 October 2019, a subsidiary of the Group received a bank facility agreement in the amount 
of EUR 102.3 million, of which EUR 95.5 million have been drawn down as of the Reporting Date. 
The loan bears an interest rate of 3M Euribor + 1.80%, maturing October 2026.  

	� On 11 September 2019 the internationally renowned rating agency S&P Global Ratings assigned 
a rating of “BB” with a stable outlook to the Company. In addition, S&P Global Ratings assigned 
a rating of “BB+” to the 2024 Senior Notes. On 24 October 2019 S&P Global Ratings assigned a 
rating of “BB+” to the 2025 Senior Notes. The company’s rating remained unchanged as at 31 
December 2019.

	 Dividend
	 No dividend was declared in respect of the 2019 financial year.

	 Establishing the management board 
	 The table below lists the current members of the Company’s Board of Managers 

	 Appointment of auditor
	� KPMG Luxembourg, Société coopérative was appointed as the auditor of the Company for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2019 on 3 June 2019. 

	 Future developments
	� The Group intends to further pursue its strategy of optimizing the portfolio management of its 

hotel and commercial properties. The Group’s primary strategy is to generate rental income 
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Name of manager Initial appointment End of current term

Sascha Hettrich 4 July 2019 Appointed for indefinite period of time
Ella Raychman 4 July 2019 Appointed for indefinite period of time
Oliver Wolf 21 November 2018 Appointed for indefinite period of time
Jan Fischer 21 November 2018 Appointed for indefinite period of time
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from long-term leases set at stable rental levels, leased to high-quality tenants. We strive to 
maximise this top-line growth through proactive asset management, marketing efforts and lev-
eraging the location of our assets. The implementation of the strategy is sought through vigi-
lant asset management, including control, monitoring and active portfolio management of the 
Group’s real estate portfolio. Through this, the Group aims to protect and further optimize the 
overall quality and profitability of its portfolio.

Review of the Group’s business and financial position

Revenues for the year ended 31 December 2019 increased by approximately 44% in comparison to the 
previous year. 61% of this revenue is generated through the hotel operational business in the United 
Kingdom; 18% is generated through rental income of the German commercial properties. As the Prop-
co reorganisation was completed during Q3 2019, the Group still generated revenues through hotel 
operations. Following the Propco reorganisation 21% of revenue is generated from rental income in 
the United Kingdom. As per the Reporting date the Group only generates revenue from rental income. 

The Group generated an operating profit, adjusted for valuation gains, profit on disposals and bargain 
purchase gain, of EUR 119.5 million (2018: 66.8 million). 

Investment property as at 31 December 2019 amounts to EUR 3.7 billion (2018: EUR 2.0 billion) at fair 
value. During the year the Group realized a fair value increase of EUR 521.4 million.  

The Group has loans from credit institutions in amount of EUR 763 million and notes EUR 1 billion as 
at 31 December 2019. 

In addition, to its external debt, the Group received shareholder loans in aggregate amount of EUR 1.2 
billion. The shareholder loans are subordinated to the credit institutions loans.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group applies policies for overall risk management, and there are Group policies covering specific 
areas such as credit risk, liquidity risk, market risks, operational risks and capital management risks. 
A more detailed description of risk management is available in Note 22 of these Financial Statements.

Corporate Governance

As a private company, the Company is not subject to any mandatory corporate governance code of con-
duct or respective statutory legal provisions. The Board of Managers of the Company has established 
the Committees of the Board of Managers and the Advisory Board to enhance a standard of internal 
supervision of and advice to the Board of Managers. 

Furthermore, the Board of Managers has full discretion to establish the committees that it deems use-
ful, appoint and dismiss their members and to determine their organisation, responsibilities, powers 
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and procedures in internal regulations adopted by way of a resolution. Committees have no powers to 
represent the Company towards third parties under the Articles of Association or by law. They provide 
non-binding expert advice and assistance to the Board of Managers. The Company has established the 
following committees:

	 Audit Committee 
	� The Board of Managers established an audit committee. The audit committee operates under 

the following terms of reference: The Board of Managers decides on the composition, tasks and 
term of the audit committee as well as the appointment and dismissal of its members. The audit 
committee of the Company has no statutory powers under Luxembourg corporate law or the Ar-
ticles of Association, but applies rules which have been adopted by the Board of Managers. The 
Company considers the establishment of the audit committee an important element to procure 
the adequateness of the Group’s accounting and preparation of its financial statements. The re-
sponsibilities of the audit committee relate to the integrity of the financial statements, including 
reporting to the Board of Managers on its activities and the adequacy of internal control systems 
over financial reporting process and of monitoring of the accounting process. The audit com-
mittee shall provide guidance to the Board of Managers about the audit of the annual financial 
statements of the Company and shall monitor in particular the independence of the auditor, the 
services rendered additionally by the auditor, the issuing of the audit mandate to the auditor, the 
determination of auditing focal points and the fee agreement with the auditor. 

	 Investment Recommendation Committee 
	� The Board of Managers established an investment recommendation committee. The invest-

ment recommendation committee operates under the following terms of reference: The Board 
of Managers decides on the composition, tasks and term of the investment recommendation 
committee as well as the appointment and dismissal of its members. The investment recom-
mendation committee of the Company has no statutory powers under Luxembourg corporate 
law or the Articles of Association, but applies rules which have been adopted by the Board of 
Managers. The Company considers the establishment of the investment recommendation com-
mittee an important element in the process of new acquisitions of properties and property port-
folios. Based on their experience and professional background, the members of the investment 
recommendation committee shall render expert advice to the Board of Managers when decid-
ing on the acquisition of new properties, at two stages of the acquisition process: for the first 
time, immediately after an initial screening process of the property including a SWOT analysis 
and a business plan and a second time, the final terms have been negotiated. Any approval or 
denial from the investment recommendation committee does not have binding effect, but rather 
function as advice the Board of Managers should take into consideration when finally deciding 
upon an acquisition. 

	 �Risk Committee  
	� The Board of Managers established a risk committee. The risk committee operates under the 

following terms of reference: The Board of Managers decides on the composition, tasks and 
term of the risk committee as well as the appointment and dismissal of its members. The risk 
committee of the Company has no statutory powers under Luxembourg corporate law or the 
Articles of Association, but applies rules which have been adopted by the Board of Managers. 
The Company considers the establishment of the risk committee an important element in its 
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current growth phase enabling the Company to continuously review and improve its risk man-
agement system, by providing expert advice in identifying risks inherent to the business of the 
Company and the applicable regulatory framework and proposing to the Board of Managers 
measures to mitigate so identified risks.

	 Advisory Board  
	� In addition to the committees, the Board of Managers of the Company established an advisory 

board (“Advisory Board”). The Board of Managers may decide on the composition, mandate and 
term of the Advisory Board as well as the appointment and dismissal of its members. The Ad-
visory Board shall provide expert advice and assistance to the Board of Managers. The Advisory 
Board has no statutory powers under the Luxembourg Companies Law or the Articles of Asso-
ciation. It applies rules adopted by the Board of Managers. The Company considers the Advisory 
Board to be an important source of guidance for the Board of Managers when making strategic 
decisions. The current members of the Advisory Board are Mr. Amir Dayan, Ms. Beatrice Ruskol 
and Mr. Stefan Kirsten. 

Important events after the balance sheet date

	

Capital Contributions

	� In March 2020, Golden Capital Partners S.A., a subsidiary of the group, completed a capital in-
crease in which Vivion and Golden co-investors contributed capital in the aggregate amount of 
EUR 556.6 million.

	 Covid-19 update
	� The Coronavirus pandemic has created unprecedented disturbance to global civilisation and 

the economy. The Company’s resilient capital structure together with the geographic, asset and 
tenant diversification within its real estate portfolio places it in a strong position to manage this 
currently challenging market environment. 

	� The Group’s portfolio has not seen any material deviation in top line performance across both 
the UK and Germany: all rents have been received for the UK portfolio up until and including 
June 2020 and only a small portion of tenants in Germany have requested rent deferrals, for 
which short-term solutions will be sought together with the tenant.

	� The Group is continuously monitoring the portfolio for all developments regarding Covid-19 and 
is following all guidance. The Group has also implemented a programme to actively reduce op-
erating expenses, postpone non-essential capital expenditure where realistically possible and 
make use of any relevant facilities or arrangements provided by the various national authorities 
to assist companies through the crisis. The Group is already prepared to increase the scope of 
these measures if the crisis were to persist for an extended period.

Signed on 23 April 2020 by:

Oliver Wolf, Manager			   Jan Fischer, Manager
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To the Shareholders of 
Vivion Investments S.à r.l. 
155, rue Cents 
L-1319 Luxembourg 
Luxembourg 
 

 REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D’ENTREPRISES AGREE 

 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vivion Investments S.à r.l. and its 
subsidiaries (the "Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit profession 
(“Law of 23 July 2016”) and with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as adopted for 
Luxembourg by the “Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (“CSSF”). Our 
responsibilities under the Law of 23 July 2016 and ISAs are further described in the « 
Responsibilities of the “Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé” for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements » section of our report. We are also independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, and have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 



 

 

Other information 
The Board of Managers is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information stated in the consolidated report including the consolidated report 
of the Board of Managers but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
report of the “Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé” thereon. 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Managers and Those Charged with Governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 

The Board of Managers is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union, and for such internal control as the Board of Managers determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Managers is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Board of Managers either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 

Responsibilities of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements 

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the “Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé” that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for 
Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
  



 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for 
Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 — Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Managers. 

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Managers' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our report of the “Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé” to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our report of the “Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé”. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities and business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.  
  



 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements   
The consolidated report of the Board of Managers is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.      
 
 

 Luxembourg, 23 April 2020  KPMG Luxembourg 
Société coopérative 
Cabinet de révision agréé 
 
 
 

  M. Weber 
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Note  31 December 2019
EUR thousands

 31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Non-current assets
Investment property 6                 3,708,610   2,047,708   
Advance payments for investment properties 5D, 23 29,973  111,451   
Investment and loans to equity-accounted 
investee 11B 13,890  -   

Property, plant and equipment 148  311   
Derivative financial instruments 4 324  3,686   
Restricted bank and other deposits 21,707  22,557   
Other financial assets 18,982   1,712   
Total non-current assets 3,793,634   2,187,425   

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 49,212  25,074   
Prepayments 2,132   5,553   
Inventories                           -    486   
Cash and cash equivalents                   128,473  61,213   

                 179,817   92,326   
Assets held for sale 7                 307,987       121,102   
Total current assets                487,804   213,428      

Total assets 4,281,437  2,400,853   

Assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Equity and liabilities

Oliver Wolf, Manager			   Jan Fischer, Manager

Date of approval of the financial statements: 23 April 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
* Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified.
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Note 31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Equity
Issued share capital 9                           12  12   
Share premium reserve 9                     53,030  53,030   
Retained earnings                  512,432  234,005   
Foreign currency translation reserve                     28,794 (1,059)
Total equity attributable to  
owners of the Company 594,268  285,988   

Non-controlling interests                  393,036   112,498
Total equity                  987,304    398,486   

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 10A 763,386   869,871   
Bonds 4, 10B 975,267 -
Loans from related parties 11, 20 855,739    746,137 *  
Loans from non-controlling interests 11A 311,252  206,995   
Tenant deposits                       2,679  1,475   
Long-term lease liabilities 3A                     76,362 -
Deferred tax liabilities 19                 193,927   103,416   
Total non-current liabilities               3,178,612   1,927,895   

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12                     30,965      24,258 *   
Income tax payables 19                     9,265   3,487   
Other short-term liabilities 13                   29,941   8,590 *   
Current portion of loans from  
credit institutions 10A                     10,166  8,896   

                   80,337  45,230  
Liabilities held for sale 7                    35,184   29,242   
Total current liabilities                115,521   74,472   
Total liabilities               3,294,133 2,002,367  
Total liabilities and equity             4,281,437    2,400,853   
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Consolidated statement of profit and loss

* Reference is made to notes 1 and 3 (Basis of consolidation). 
** Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note For the year ended 
31 December 2019 

EUR thousands

For the period from 2 April till 
31 December 2018 (*)

EUR thousands

Revenues
Hotel income                 168,786  161,694   
Rental income                   98,759  24,777   
Service charge income                     9,825  5,771   
Total revenues 15            277,370  192,242
Cost of hotel operations                 (60,069) (49,047)   
Other property operating expenses               (23,624) (23,474)   
Service charge expenses                 (14,614) (8,003)   

16           (98,307) (80,524)
179,063   111,718   

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company              278,177   234,005   
Non-controlling interests              211,132  43,905   

            489,309   277,910   

Valuation gains from  
investment property                521,440   280,819   

Share in profit from investment in  
equity-accounted investees 11B                     3,206 -

Profit on disposal of  
investment property 5C                   35,077 -

Bargain purchase gain 5A                   39,378  43,207   
Net gains on investment property              599,101   324,026   

Selling expenses 17                 (23,509) (21,148)   
Administrative expenses 17                 (36,492) (23,810)   

Interest expenses on related party 
and non-controlling interest loans 18 (55,866) (33,830) **

Interest expenses on third parties 18                      (50,821)  (21,805) **  
Other finance expenses 18               (26,398) (2,545) **   
Profit before tax              585,078  323,606   

Income tax expense 19               (95,769) (54,696)  
Profit for the year/period              489,309    277,910   

Operating profit 718,163   390,786   

Net operating income
Total operating expenses
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

* Reference is made to notes 1 and 3 (Basis of consolidation). 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note For the year ended 
31 December 2019

EUR thousands

For the period from 2 April till 
31 December 2018 (*)

EUR thousands

Profit for the year/period 489,309  277,910   
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Foreign currency translation reserve 28,794 (1,059)
Other comprehensive income: 28,794   (1,059)
Total comprehensive income  
for the year/period 518,103  276,851   

Attributable to
Owners of the Company 306,971  232,946   
Non-controlling interests 211,132  43,905   

518,103  276,851   
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 | CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS           

Note For the year ended 
31 December 2019

EUR thousands

For the period from  
2 April till 

31 December 2018 (*)
EUR thousands

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 489,309 277,910
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax:
Net change in fair value of investment property 6 (521,440) (280,819)

Profit from acquisition at bargain price 5A (39,378) (43,207)
Profit on disposal of investment property 5C (35,077) -
Net finance expense 133,085 58,180
Tax expense 19 95,769 54,696
Depreciation 492 372
Share in profit from investment in  
equity-accounted investees 11B (3,206) -

Change in inventories 963 (74)
Change in trade and other receivables 20,990 (165)
Change in trade and other payables (41,355) (17,932)
Change in tenant deposits 1,175 331
Taxes paid (12,959) (1,627)
Net cash from operating activities 88,368  47,667   

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment property, net of cash 
acquired 5B (848,080) (699,430)

Disposal of subsidiary, net of cash disposed of 5C 207,971 -
Advances in respect of investment properties 5D (29,973) (111,451)
Capital expenditure and refurbishment of 
investment property 6 (15,970) (15,677)

Capital expenditure on PP&E (329) (352)
Change in restricted bank and other deposits 863 (14,781)
Loans granted to related parties 22 (10,684) -
Loan granted to non-controlling interest (13,489) (1,048)
Net cash from investing activities (709,691) (842,739)

>>> continued on next page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 67,335 62,285
Cash and cash equivalents as at the  
beginning of the year/period 61,213 -

Effect of exchange rate differences on cash 
and cash equivalents 2,667 (628)

Cash classified as held for sale (2,742) (444)
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of 
the year/period 128,473  61,213 

* Reference is made to notes 1 and 3 (Basis of consolidation) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

>>> continued from previous page

Note For the year ended 
31 December 2019

EUR thousands

For the period from  
2 April till 

31 December 2018 (*)
EUR thousands

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital  
net of issue costs -     12

Proceeds from capital contributions of  
non-controlling interest shareholders 27,447 51,339

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 10 328,176 799,282
Proceeds from issuance of bonds,  
net of issuance costs 10 973,579 -

Proceeds from related party loans 34,330 420,162
Proceeds from loans from non-controlling 
interests 87,331 200,205

Repayment of loans and borrowings 10 (716,295) (579,419)
Payment of debt issuance costs (4,424) (11,335)
Interest paid (41,488) (16,439)
Payments relating to hedging activities - (6,449)
Net cash from financing activities 688,657 857,358
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2019
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Note Issued 
share  

Capital
EUR 

thousands

Share 
premium 
reserve

EUR 
thousands

Foreign 
currency 

trans-
lation 

reserve
EUR 

thousands

Retained 
earnings

EUR 
thousands

Total

EUR 
thousands

Non- 
cont-

rolling 
interests

EUR 
thousands

Total  
equity

EUR 
thousands

Balance as at  
1 January 2019 12 53,030 (1,059) 234,005 285,988 112,498 398,485

Effect of initial  
application of  
IFRS 16*

3A - - - 251 251 - 251

Balances as at  
1 January 2019 
after initial  
application

12 53,030 (1,059) 234,256 286,239 112,498 398,736

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - -  278,177 278,177 211,132     489,309 
Other 
comprehensive 
income

- - 29,853  - 29,853  -      29,853   

Total comprehen
sive income for 
the period 

12 53,030 28,794  512,432  594,268   323,630   917,898   

Transactions with owners, recognized directly in equity
Equity contributions 
of non-controlling 
interest share- 
holders net of  
issue costs

- - - - - 27,447 27,447 

Non-controlling 
interests arising on 
initial consolidation

- - - - - 46,922 46,922 

Derecognition of 
non-controlling 
interests due to sale 
of subsidiaries

- - - - - (4,963) (4,963)

Balance as at 
31 December 2019 12 53,030 28,794 512,432 594,268  393,036 987,304  

* See Note 3 regarding initial application of IFRS 16, Leases. According to the transitional method that was chosen, comparative data were not restated. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the period from 2 April till 31 December 2018
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* Reference is made to notes 1 and 3 (Basis of consolidation) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Issued 
share  

Capital
EUR 

thousands

Share 
premium 
reserve

EUR 
thousands

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

EUR 
thousands

Result for 
current 
period

EUR 
thousands

Total

EUR 
thousands

Non- 
controlling 
interests

EUR 
thousands

Total  
equity

EUR 
thousands

Balance as at  
2 April 2018 *  -  -  -      -  -  -  - 

Profit (loss) for the 
current period  -  -  -      234,004    234,004    43,905    277,909   

Other comprehensi-
ve income  -  - (1,059) (1,059)  -     (1,059)

Total comprehensi-
ve income for 
the period 

 -      -     (1,059)  234,004    232,945    43,905    276,850   

Transactions with owners, recognized directly in equity
Issue of ordinary 
shares net of issue 
costs 

 12    -      -      -  12    -      12   

Conversion of share-
holders’ loans into 
share premium 

 -  53,030    -      -  53,030    -      53,030   

Non-controlling 
interests arising on 
initial consolidation

 -      -      -      -      -      63,974    63,974   

Sale of subsidiary's 
shares to non-con-
trolling interests

 -      -      -      -      -      4,619    4,619   

Balance as at 
31 December 2018  12    53,030   (1,059)  234,004    285,987    112,498    398,485   
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Note 1 – Corporate information

Vivion Investments S.à r.l., (the “Company” or “Vivion” and together with its consolidated subsidiaries 
the “Group”) was formed in Luxemburg on 19 October 2018 and was registered with the Luxembourg 
Register of Trade and Companies (Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés Luxembourg) on 26 Octo-
ber 2018 under number B228676. The Company has its registered address at 155 Rue Cents, L-1319, 
Luxembourg. 

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019 was EUR 12,002 (2018: 
EUR 12,002) divided into 12,002 shares (2018: 12,002 shares) with nominal value of EUR 1 each. The 
Company is a directly held subsidiary of Vivion Holdings S.à r.l. (“Vivion Holdings”) a company incorpo-
rated in Luxembourg. 

The Company acquired Vivion Capital Partners S.A. (“Vivion CP”) in November 2018, while Golden 
Capital Partners S.A. (“Golden”), a subsidiary of Vivion CP, acquired its operations on 2 April 2018. 
Therefore, due to the Golden transaction and the common control nature of the Vivion transaction, 
the comparative profit and loss figures for 2018 are presented for the period from 2 April 2018 to 31 
December 2018. The group did not have any operational activities in the period before 2 April 2018. We 
refer to the notes in the consolidated financial statements as for the period from 2 April 2018 to and at 
31 December 2018.

Vivion is a commercial real estate group, focusing on the ownership, management, improvement and 
selective acquisition and disposal of properties primarily in the United Kingdom (“UK”) and Germany. 
As at 31 December 2019 (“Reporting date”) Vivion CP held 51.5% (2018: 60.3%) of the share capital of 
Golden. 

Golden’s business activities are focused on the German commercial real estate market with a focus 
on office properties. As at 31 December 2019 the Group owned 39 properties (2018: 35 properties) in 
Germany, which were classified as investment property.

Vivion holds 100% interest in Luxembourg Investment Company 210 S.à r.l. (“LIC 210”) that focuses its 
business activities on investing in hotel properties located in the United Kingdom. As at 31 December 
2019, LIC 210 indirectly held a portfolio of 54 hotels (2018: 20 hotels) in the United Kingdom, of which 
it acquired 26 hotels on 31 January 2019. The hotels are classified as investment property. 

In July 2019 the Company completed its unsecured public market debut through the issuance of EUR 
700 million Senior Unsecured Notes due July 2024. In October 2019 the company had a successful sec-
ond issuance of EUR 300 million Senior Unsecured Notes due October 2026. Refer to note 11B. In July 
2019, S&P published its first long-term corporate rating to Vivion of ‘BB’ with stable outlook. The com-
pany also obtained a ‘BB+’ rating for the two Senior Unsecured Bonds that have been issued in 2019.

The company’s rating remained unchanged as at 31 December 2019.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 | NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS         



23

	 Definitions
	 In these consolidated financial statements – 

	 (1) The Company – Vivion Investments S.à r.l.

	 (2) The Group – The Company and its subsidiaries

	 (3) �Subsidiaries – Companies, including a partnership, the financial statements of which are 
fully consolidated, directly or indirectly, with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company.

	 (4) Parent – Vivion Holdings S.à r.l.

	 (5) �Investee companies – Subsidiaries and companies, including a partnership or joint venture, 
the Company's investment in which is stated, directly or indirectly, on the equity basis.

	 (6) Related party – Within its meaning in IAS 24 (2009), “Related Party Disclosures”.

	 (7) Report Date – 31 December 2019

	 (8) �Reporting Period – the period started on 1 January 2019 and ended on 31 December 2019

Note 2 - Basis of Preparation

A. Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) as at 31 December 2019 (the 
“Report Date”) and for the year then ended (the “Reporting Period”) have been prepared in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS). IFRS as adopted 
by the EU are IFRS Standards and IFRS Interpretations as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

Certain consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of financial position and 
consolidated statement of cash flows’ items related to the period ended 31 December 2018 have 
been reclassified to enhance comparability with 2019 figures and are marked as “reclassified”.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Manag-
ers on 23 April 2020 (the “Report Approval Date”).
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B. Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, applying the 
historical cost convention, except for the measurement of the following:
	  Investment properties are measured at fair value;
	  Derivative financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value;
	  Investment in equity-accounted investees;
	  Deferred tax assets and liabilities on fair value gains and losses on investment property.
	  Assets and liabilities held-for-sale 

This is the first set of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in which IFRS 16 Leases has 
been applied. The related changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 3A.

C. Use of estimates, judgments and fair value measurement

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to exercise 
judgment when making the assessments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. Management of the Company prepares the estimates on 
the basis of past experience, various facts, external circumstances, and reasonable assumptions 
according to the pertinent circumstances of each estimate. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

	 Judgements 
	� In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the fol-

lowing judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements:

	 Business combinations – note 5
	� Upon the acquisition of a property company, the Group considers whether each acquisition 

represents the acquisition of a business or the acquisition of an asset. The Group accounts 
for an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities and assets, 
including property, is acquired. More specifically, consideration is given to the extent to which 
significant processes are acquired and, in particular, the extent of services provided by the 
subsidiary (e.g. maintenance, cleaning, security, bookkeeping, hotel services, etc.).

	� When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a business combination, it is ac-
counted for as an acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition 
is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair value, and no 
goodwill or deferred tax is recognized.

	 Estimates and assumptions 
	� The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 

at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the car-
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rying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The 
Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated 
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond 
the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

	
	 Valuation of investment properties – note 6
	� In accordance with its policy, the Group periodically examines the values of its investment 

property. Such examination is performed at least once a year for investment property by in-
dependent external appraisers having appropriate professional qualifications and knowledge 
with respect to the relevant location and the type of property appraised.

	� At each reporting period the Group examines the need to update the last valuation performed, 
to ensure it represents a reliable value estimation as of the current reporting period. This ex-
amination is made by reviewing the changes in the macro-economic environment in terms of 
cap rates and market rent, leases’ terms, updated information in respect of material trans-
actions made in the same areas and any other information that may affect the value of the 
asset.

	 Uncertain tax positions – note 19
	� Judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are transactions 

and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these mat-
ters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

D. Functional and presentation currency

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros (EUR), which is also the par-
ent’s company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency 
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional 
currency. They are then translated into the presentation currency of the Group.

2019
GBP/EUR

2018
GBP/EUR

31 December  1.175    1.118   
Average over reporting period  1.140    1.130  
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Note 3 – Summary of significant accounting policies

A. Initial application of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations

As from 1 January 2019 the Group applies the new standards and amendments to standards de-
scribed below:

	 �(1) IFRS 16, Leases
	� As from 1 January 2019 (hereinafter: “the date of initial application”) the Group applies Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standard 16, Leases (hereinafter: “IFRS 16” or “the standard”), 
which replaced International Accounting Standard 17, Leases (hereinafter: “IAS 17” or “the 
previous standard”). 

	� The main effect of the standard’s application is reflected in annulment of the existing require-
ment from lessees to classify leases as operating (off-balance sheet) or finance leases and the 
presentation of a unified model for lessees to account for all leases similarly to the accounting 
treatment of finance leases in the previous standard. Until the date of initial application, the 
Group classified the leases in which it is the lessee as operating leases, since it did not sub-
stantially bear all the risks and rewards from the assets. 

	� In accordance with IFRS 16, for agreements in which the Group is the lessee, the Group recog-
nizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the inception of the lease contract for all the 
leases in which the Group has a right to control identified assets for a specified period of time, 
other than exceptions specified in the standard. Accordingly, the Group recognizes financing 
expenses on a lease liability. Therefore, as from the date of initial application, lease payments 
relating to assets leased under an operating lease, which were presented as part of general 
and administrative expenses in the income statement, are capitalized to assets and written 
down as depreciation and amortization expenses. The right-of-use assets are included in in-
vestment property, also refer to note 6. 

	� The Group elected to apply the standard using the modified retrospective approach, with an 
adjustment to the balance of retained earnings as at 1 January 2019 and without a restate-
ment of comparative data. In respect of all the leases, the Group elected to apply the tran-
sitional provisions such that on the date of initial application it recognized a liability at the 
present value of the balance of future lease payments discounted at its incremental borrowing 
rate at that date calculated according to the average duration of the remaining lease period 
as from the date of initial application and adjusted the lease liability as if accounted for the 
lease per initiation of the lease contract in accordance with IFRS 16. Consequently, for lease 
agreements of German properties the Group recognized retrospectively a right-of-use asset 
at fair value of future lease payments, adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
that were recognized as an asset or liability before the date of initial application. For UK lease 
agreements the Group recognized a right-of-use asset at fair value, equal to the lease liability, 
adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments that were recognized as an asset or lia-
bility before the date of initial application. Therefore, application of the standard for UK hotel 
lease agreements did not have an effect on the Group’s equity at the date of application. 
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	� In measurement of the lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using the nom-
inal incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The discount rates used to measure the 
lease liability range between 4.25% and 6.30% (weighted average of 6.16%). This range is af-
fected by differences in the lease term, differences between asset groups, and so forth.

	 Impact of the application of IFRS 16 in the reporting period
	� As a result of applying IFRS 16, in relation to the leases that were classified as operating 

leases according to IAS 17, the Group recognized right-of-use assets (including investment 
property) and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019 in the amount of EUR 77.2 million and  
EUR 76.4 million, respectively.

	� Furthermore, instead of recognizing lease expenses in relation to those leases, during the 
year ended 31 December 2019 the Group recognized as part of revaluation of investment prop-
erty an amount of EUR 0.3 million negative, and additional financing expenses in the amount 
of EUR 5.4 million. 

 

	� Furthermore, as part of the initial application of the standard, the Group has chosen to apply 
the following expedients:

		  (1) �Applying the practical expedient regarding the recognition and measurement of 
leases where the underlying asset has an immaterial value;

		  (2) �Relying on a previous definition and/or assessment of whether an arrangement is a 
lease in accordance with current guidance with respect to agreements that exist at 
the date of initial application;

		  (3) �Assessing whether a contract is onerous in accordance with IAS 37, Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (hereinafter: “IAS 37”) immediately be-
fore the date of initial application instead of assessing impairment of right-of-use 
assets.

		  (4) �Applying the practical expedient regarding the recognition and measurement of 
short-term leases, for both leases that end within 12 months from the date of initial 
application and leases for a period of up to 12 months from the date of their incep-
tion for all groups of underlying assets to which the right-of-use relates;

		  (5) �Excluding initial direct costs from measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date 
of initial application;

		  (6) �Using hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract includes an exten-
sion or termination option;

	� The table below presents the cumulative effects of the items affected by the initial application 
on the statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019:

According to IAS 17
EUR thousands

The change
EUR thousands

According to IFRS 16
EUR thousands

Right-of-use asset (as included 
in Investment Property) - 85,827 85,827

Lease liabilities - 84,473 84,473
Retained earnings - 251 251
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Standard
interpretation
amendment

The requirements of the publication Effective date and 
transitional  
provisions

Expected  
effects

(1) �Improvements 
to IFRSs 2015-
2017: Amend-
ment to IAS 23,  
Borrowing Costs

The amendment clarifies that any spe-
cific borrowing costs outstanding after a 
qualifying asset is ready for its intended 
use or sale should be taken into account 
in the calculation of the weighted ave-
rage capitalization rate of the general 
borrowings costs. 

The amendment is 
applied on a pro-
spective basis.

The Group does not 
expect any material 
impact on applying 
the amendment 
on a prospective 
basis.

(2) �IFRIC 23,  
�Uncertainty 
Over Income Tax 
Treatments

IFRIC 23 clarifies how to apply the recog-
nition and measurement requirements of 
IAS 12 for uncertainties in income taxes. 
According to IFRIC 23, when determining 
the taxable profit (loss), tax bases, un-
used tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates when there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments, the entity should 
assess whether it is probable that the tax 
authority will accept its tax position. In-
sofar as it is probable that the tax autho-
rity will accept the entity’s tax position, 
the entity will recognize the tax effects 
on the financial statements according to 
that tax position. On the other hand, if it 
is not probable that the tax authority will 
accept the entity’s tax position, the entity 
is required to reflect the uncertainty in 
its accounts by using one of the following 
methods: the most likely outcome or the 
expected value. IFRIC 23 clarifies that 
when the entity examines whether or not 
it is probable that the tax authority will 
accept the entity’s position, it is assumed 
that the tax authority with the right to 
examine any amounts reported to it will 
examine those amounts and that it has 
full knowledge of all relevant information 
when doing so. Furthermore, according 
to IFRIC 23 an entity has to consider 
changes in circumstances and new infor-
mation that may change its assessment. 
IFRIC 23 also emphasizes the need to 
provide disclosures of the judgments and 
assumptions made by the entity regar-
ding uncertain tax positions.

IFRIC 23 is applied 
using the cumulative 
effect  
approach

The application of 
IFRIC 23 did not have 
a material effect on 
the financial state-
ments other than 
providing more 
disclosures regar-
ding the judgements 
made on the mat-
ter.

(3) �Amendment to 
IAS 28, Invest-
ments in Asso-
ciates and Joint 
Venture: Long-
Term Interests 
in Associates or 
Joint Ventures

The Amendment clarifies that for long-
term interests that form part of the ent-
ity’s net investment in the associate or 
joint venture, the entity shall first apply 
the requirements of IFRS 9 and then ap-
ply the instructions of IAS 28 with respect 
to the remainder of those interests, so 
that the long-term interests are in the 
scope of both IFRS 9 and IAS 28.

The Amendment 
is applied retro-
spectively (with the 
possibility of cer-
tain reliefs) with an 
adjustment to the 
balance of retai-
ned earnings at the 
transition date and 
without an amend-
ment of comparative 
data.

The Group granted 
loans to an inves-
tee company that 
form part of the net 
investment in those 
investee companies. 
Application of the 
Amendment does 
not have any mate-
rial impact.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the company and its sub-
sidiaries as at 31 December 2019. Due to the common control nature of the transactions described in 
note 1, the comparative consolidated profit and loss statements and consolidated cash flow’s state-
ment are presented for the period 2 April 2018 to 31 December 2018. In the period before 2 April 2018, 
the Group did not have any operational activities. 

The Group controls an investee if, it has:
	  �Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the rele-

vant activities of the investee)
	  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement, with the investee
	  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this 
presumption, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 
power over an investee, including:
	  The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
	  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
	  The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary be-
gins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of 
the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during 
the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control 
until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of each component of Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity 
holders of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-con-
trolling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting 
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other component of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is 
recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value if no significant influ-
ence remains.

	� Non-controlling interests 
	� Non-controlling interests comprise the equity of a subsidiary that cannot be attributed, direct-

ly or indirectly, to the parent company and they include additional components such as: the 
equity component of convertible debentures of subsidiaries, share-based payments that will 
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be settled with equity instruments of subsidiaries and share options of subsidiaries.

	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
	� Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 

intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealized gains arising from transactions with associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in these investments. Unrealized 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is 
no evidence of impairment.

	 Investments in associated and equity-accounted investees
	� An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a 

subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control 
over those policies. A jointly controlled entity is an entity in which two or more parties have 
interest. 

	� The results and assets and liabilities of associated and equity-accounted investees are incor-
porated in these consolidated financial statements, using the equity method of accounting, 
except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s 
share of the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income of the asso-
ciate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest  in that 
associate (which includes any long-term interest that, in substance, form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further loss-
es. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

	� Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifia-
ble assts, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate recognized at the date of acquisi-
tion is recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and 
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immedi-
ately in profit or loss. 

	� The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any 
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, 
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable 
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount; any 
impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal 
of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recover-
able amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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	� When an entity in the Group transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the 
transactions with the associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial state-
ments, however only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the 
Group. 

Property acquisitions and business combinations

Where property is acquired, via corporate acquisitions or other, management considers the sub-
stance of the assets and activities of the acquired entity in determining whether the acquisition rep-
resents the acquisition of a business.

When examining whether a property or a property company constitutes a business, the Group exam-
ines, inter alia, the nature of the processes in place in the property company, including the extent 
and nature of the management, security, cleaning and maintenance services that are provided to the 
tenants. Transactions in which the acquired company is considered a business are accounted for as 
a business combination as described above. Conversely, transactions in which the acquired company 
is not considered a business are accounted for as the acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. In 
such transactions, the cost of acquisition, which includes transaction costs, is allocated proportion-
ately to the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities, based on their proportionate fair value on the 
acquisition date. In the latter case, no goodwill is recognized and no deferred taxes are recognized in 
respect of the temporary differences existing on the acquisition date.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The Group measures the non-con-
trolling interest at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-relat-
ed costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for ap-
propriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circum-
stances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded 
derivatives in host contracts by the acquire when applicable.

Foreign currency 
	
	 Transactions and balances
	� Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of 

Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and lia-
bilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at the reporting date.

	� Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized in profit 
or loss, with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the 
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI until the net in-
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vestment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also 
recorded in OCI.

	� Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. The gain or loss 
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 
recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on 
items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in OCI or profit or loss are also recognized in 
OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

	 Group companies
	� On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign group companies are translated into eu-

ros at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit and 
loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognized in OCI. On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is recog-
nized in profit and loss. 

	� Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the foreign exchange spot rate at the 
reporting date

Borrowing costs

The Company decided to apply a policy choice of capitalizing borrowing costs to investment property 
measured at fair value. Specific and non-specific borrowing costs are capitalized to qualifying assets 
throughout the period required for completion and construction until they are ready for their intend-
ed use. Non-specific borrowing costs are capitalized in the same manner to the same investment 
in qualifying assets, or portion thereof, which was not financed with specific credit by means of a 
rate which is the weighted-average cost of the credit sources which were not specifically capitalized. 
Foreign currency differences from credit in foreign currency are capitalized if they are considered an 
adjustment of interest costs. Other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

Income earned on the temporary investment of specific credit received for investing in a qualifying 
asset is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

Investment property

Investment property is property (land or building – or part of a building – or both) held (by the owner 
or by the lessee under a finance lease) to earn rental income or for capital appreciation, and is not for:
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	  Use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
	  Sale in the ordinary course of business.

Investment property is initially measured at cost including transaction costs. Transaction costs in-
cludes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects market 
conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment 
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding 
tax effect. For the purposes of these financial statements, in order to avoid double counting, the fair 
value reported in the financial statements is reduced by the carrying amount of any accrued income 
resulting from the spreading of lease incentives and/or minimum lease payments.

The Group presents advances in respect of investment properties as non-current assets and does not 
include them as part of the investment properties. In subsequent periods, when the transactions are 
completed, the advances are reclassified to investment properties.
Investment property is derecognized either when it has been disposed of or when it is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference be-
tween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss 
in the period of derecognition.

Assets held for sale

Investment property is transferred to Assets held for sale when it is expected that its carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through sale rather than from continuing use. For this to be the case, the 
property must be available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are 
usual and customary for sales of such property and its sale must be highly probable.

For the sale to be highly probable:
	  �The Board must be committed to a plan to sell the property and an active program to locate 

a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated
	  �The property must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its 

current fair value
	  �The sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 

from the date of classification.

On re-classification as held for sale, investment properties continue to be measured at fair value. 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the 
statement of financial position.

Rent and other receivables

Rent and other receivables are recognized at their original invoiced value. A provision is made when 
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to recover balances in full. Paragraph Im-
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pairment discusses any impairment of rent receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal value.
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are con-
sidered an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Restricted bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits consist of deposits in banks that the Group has pledged to secure banking 
facilities, which the Group cannot use freely for operations, and are valued at nominal value.
Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. The Group recognizes a reimbursement asset if, and only if, it is 
virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received if the Company settles the obligation. The 
amount recognized in respect of the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized in accordance with IFRS 15 in which a five-step model is established to ac-
count for revenue arising from contracts with customers and requires revenue to be recognized at 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer.

Revenue is recognized when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a good or 
service to the customer. Transaction price is recognized based on standalone selling price. The Group 
has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor 
and it has pricing latitude. 
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Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 establishes a five step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers 
and requires revenue to be recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

Revenue is recognized when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a good or 
service to the customer. Transaction price is recognized based on standalone selling price. The Group 
has concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor 
and it has pricing latitude.  

Identifying the contract

The Group accounts for a contract with a customer only when the following conditions are met:
	 (a) �The parties to the contract have approved the contract (in writing, orally or according to 

other customary business practices) and they are committed to satisfying the obligations 
attributable to them;

	 (b) �The Group can identify the rights of each party in relation to the goods or services that will 
be transferred;

	 (c) The Group can identify the payment terms for the goods or services that will be transferred;
	 (d) �The contract has a commercial substance (i.e. the risk, timing and amount of the entity’s 

future cash flows are expected to change as a result of the contract); and
	 (e) �It is probable that the consideration, to which the Group is entitled to in exchange for the 

goods or services transferred to the customer, will be collected.

For the purpose of paragraph (e) the Group examines, inter alia, the percentage of the advance pay-
ments received and the spread of the contractual payments, past experience with the customer and 
the status and existence of sufficient collateral.

If a contract with a customer does not meet all of the above criteria, consideration received from the 
customer is recognized as a liability until the criteria are met or when one of the following events 
occurs: the Group has no remaining obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer and any 
consideration promised by the customer has been received and cannot be returned; or the contract 
has been terminated and the consideration received from the customer cannot be refunded.

Combination of contracts

The Group combines two or more contracts entered into on the same date or on proximate dates with 
the same customer (or related parties of the customer) and accounts for them as one contract when 
one or more of the following conditions are met:
	 (a) �Negotiations were held on the contracts as one package with a single commercial purpose;
	 (b) �The amount of the consideration in one contract depends on the price or performance of a 

different contract; or
	 (c) �The goods or services promised in the contracts (or certain goods or services promised in 

each one of the contracts) are a single performance obligation.
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Identifying performance obligations

On the contract’s inception date the Group assesses the goods or services promised in the contract 
with the customer and identifies as a performance obligation any promise to transfer to the customer 
one of the following:
	 (a) Goods or services (or a bundle of goods or services) that are distinct; or
	 (b) �A series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same 

pattern of transfer to the customer.

The Group identifies goods or services promised to the customer as being distinct when the custom-
er can benefit from the goods or services on their own or in conjunction with other readily available 
resources and the Group’s promise to transfer the goods or services to the customer is separately 
identifiable from other promises in the contract. In order to examine whether a promise to transfer 
goods or services is separately identifiable, the Group examines whether it is providing a significant 
service of integrating the goods or services with other goods or services promised in the contract into 
one integrated outcome that is the purpose of the contract.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer such as sales fees to agents, are rec-
ognized as an asset when the Group is likely to recover these costs. Costs to obtain a contract that 
would have been incurred regardless of the contract are recognized as an expense as incurred, un-
less the customer can be billed for those costs.
Costs incurred to fulfill a contract with a customer and not in the scope of another standard are rec-
ognized as an asset when they: relate directly to a contract the Group can specifically identify; they 
generate or enhance resources of the Group that will be used in satisfying performance obligations 
in the future; and they are expected to be recovered. In any other case the costs are recognized as an 
expense as incurred. 

Capitalized costs are amortized in the income statement on a systematic basis that is consistent with 
the pattern of transfer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.

Every reporting period the Group examines whether the carrying amount of the asset recognized as 
aforesaid exceeds the consideration the entity expects to receive in exchange for the goods or ser-
vices to which the asset relates, less the costs directly attributable to the provision of these goods or 
services that were not recognized as expenses, and if necessary an impairment loss is recognized in 
profit or loss.

Contract modifications

A contract modification is a change in the scope or price (or both) of a contract that was approved by 
the parties to the contract. A contract modification can be approved in writing, orally or be implied 
by customary business practices. A contract modification can take place also when the parties to the 
contract have a disagreement regarding the scope or price (or both) of the modification or when the 
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parties have approved the modification in scope of the contract but have not yet agreed on the corre-
sponding price modification.

When a contract modification has not yet been approved by the parties, the Group continues to rec-
ognize revenues according to the existing contract, while disregarding the contract modification, until 
the date the contract modification is approved or the contract modification is legally enforceable.
The Group accounts for a contract modification as an adjustment of the existing contract since the 
remaining goods or services after the contract modification are not distinct and therefore constitute 
a part of one performance obligation that is partially satisfied on the date of the contract modifica-
tion. The effect of the modification on the transaction price and on the rate of progress towards full 
satisfaction of the performance obligation is recognized as an adjustment to revenues (increase or 
decrease) on the date of the contract modification, meaning on a catch-up basis.

Principal or agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to the customer, the Group examines 
whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the defined goods or servic-
es itself, which means the Group is a principal and therefore recognizes revenue in the gross amount 
of the consideration, or to arrange that another party provide the goods or services which means the 
Group is an agent and therefore recognizes revenue in the amount of the net commission.
The Group is a principal when it controls the promised goods or services before their transfer to the 
customer. Indicators that the Group controls the goods or services before their transfer to the cus-
tomer include, inter alia, as follows: the Group is the primary obligor for fulfilling the promises in the 
contract; the Group has inventory risk before the goods or services are transferred to the customer; 
and the Group has discretion in setting the prices of the goods or services.

	 1. Rental income 
	� The Group is the lessor in operating leases. These lease contracts are scoped out of IFRS 15, 

described above, and are accounted for under IAS 17 (from 2019: IFRS 16 Leases). 

	� Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease and is included in revenue in the statement of 
profit and loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental income which is rec-
ognized when it arises. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are recognized as an expense over the term of the lease on the same basis as the lease 
income. 

	� Tenant lease incentives are recognized as a reduction of rental income on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together 
with any further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the 
inception of the lease, the Group is reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.

	 2. Service charges, management charges and other expenses recoverable from tenants
	� The Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements that include ancillary services provided 

to tenants by the Group or by other parties acting on its behalf, and other charges billed to 
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tenants, for which the Group is entitled to payments. 

	� Service charge income is in scope of IFRS 15 and is measured based on the consideration 
to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a tenant. Revenue from service 
charges is recognized over time as services are rendered. 

	� The Group arranges for both third parties and related parties to provide certain services to the 
tenants. The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to perform the specific 
services and the Group bears inventory and credit risk on these transactions as it obliged to 
pay the service provider even if the tenant defaults on a payment. 

	� The Group controls the service before it is provided to the tenant and , hence, is principal 
rather than agent in these contracts, and thus reports revenue on a gross basis; that is the 
amounts billed to the tenants are recorded as Service Charge revenue from contracts with 
tenants and operating costs are recorded as purchased services in Service Charge expenses. 

	 3. Hotel revenues
	� Hotel operations revenue, including the rental of rooms and sale of food and beverage, is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable excluding value added 
tax. Revenue is reduced for discounts and other similar allowances. 

	� Revenue from rooms, food and beverage and other related services is recognized when the 
room is occupied, food and beverages are sold and other related services on the performance 
of services.

 
	 4. Sale of property
	� The Group enters into contracts with customers to sell properties that are either complete or 

under development. 

	� The sale of completed property is generally expected to be the only performance obligation 
which will be satisfied at the point in time when the control is transferred to the customer, 
which is generally expected to be when legal title is transferred.

	� For contracts relating to the sale of properties under development, the Group is responsible 
for the overall management of the project and identifies various goods and services to be 
provided. In such contracts, the goods and services are not distinct and will generally be ac-
counted for as a single performance obligation. Depending on the terms of each contract, the 
Group will determine whether control is transferred at a point in time or over time.

	 5. Interest income
	� Interest income is accounted for using the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Interest 

income is recognized as it accrues using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. The EIR is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset. Interest income is included in financial income in the statement of profit or 
loss.
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Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

The Group is subject to income and capital gains taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judge-
ment is required to determine the total liability for current and deferred taxes.

The Group recognizes liabilities for current taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially record-
ed, such differences will impact the income and deferred tax liabilities in the period in which the de-
termination is made. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on a net basis to the extent they 
relate to the same fiscal authority and tax paying entity and fall due in approximately the same period.

	 �Current income tax
	� Current tax is the expected tax payable (or receivable) on the taxable income for the year, us-

ing tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the 
Group operates and generates taxable income. Current taxes also include taxes in respect of 
prior years and any tax arising from dividends. 

	� Current income tax is charged or credited in profit or loss, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the de-
ferred tax is recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively. 

	� Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate.

	 Deferred income tax
	� Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting pur-
poses at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
		   �When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and

		   �Differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and associates and joint arrange-
ments, to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future, either by way of selling the investment or by way of distributing dividends in 
respect of the investment

	� Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carried 
forward unused tax credits and unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the ex-
tent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible tempo-
rary differences, carried forward unused tax credits or unused tax losses can be utilized, except:
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		   �When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a busi-
ness combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and

		   �In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in sub-
sidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax 
assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differ-
ences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilized

	� The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. For investment property that is measured at fair value, 
there is a rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of the investment property will be 
recovered through sale.

	
	� Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differ-

ences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date.

	� Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or 
credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is 
recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

	� Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset cur-
rent tax liabilities and assets, and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority.

Derivative financial instruments

	 �Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
	� The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and in-

terest rate swap contracts to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risks. Such derivative 
financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are car-
ried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair 
value is negative. Any effect of remeasurement is recorded in the statement of profit and loss. 

	 Fair value measurements
�	� The Group measures derivatives and investment properties at fair value at each reporting 

date. Fair value related disclosures for items measured at fair value or where fair values are 
disclosed, are summarized in the following notes:

		   �Accounting policy disclosures – note 3
		   �Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions – notes 3, 

4 and 6
		   �Investment properties – note 6
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	  �Derivatives and other financial instruments – note 22

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:
	  �In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
	  �In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or lia-

bility

The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which suffi-
cient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses observable market data as 
much as possible. There are three levels of fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy that 
are based on the data used in the measurement, as follows:
	  �Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
	  �Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either 

directly or indirectly 
	  �Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring 
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value meas-
urement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Financial instruments

	 Recognition and initial measurement
	� The Group initially recognizes trade receivables and debt instruments issued on the date that 

they are created. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized initially on 
the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instru-
ment. Generally, a financial asset or financial liability are initially measured at fair value plus, 
in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, trans-
action costs that are directly attributable  To the acquisition or issuance of the financial asset 
or financial liability. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially 
measured at the transaction price. 
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	 Financial assets – classification and subsequent measurement
	� Financial assets are classified at initial recognition to one of the following measurement cate-

gories: amortized cost; fair value through other comprehensive income – investments in debt 
instruments; fair value through other comprehensive income – investments in equity instru-
ments; or fair value through profit or loss.

	� Financial assets are not reclassified in subsequent periods unless, and only if, the Group 
changes its business model for the management of financial debt assets, in which case the 
affected financial debt assets are reclassified at the beginning of the period following the 
change in the business model.

	� A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated at fair value through profit or loss:

		   �It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets so as to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

		   �The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
representing solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount out-
standing.

	� A debt instrument is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets 
both of the following conditions and is not designated at fair value through profit or loss:

		   �It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting con-
tractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

		   �The contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows representing solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

	� All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income as described above, as well as financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

	� The Group has balances of trade and other receivables, deposits and other financial assets 
that are held within a business model whose objective is collecting contractual cash flows. 
The contractual cash flows of these financial assets represent solely payments of principal 
and interest that reflects consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk. Accord-
ingly, these financial assets are measured at amortized cost.

	
	� Financial assets – assessment whether cash flows represent solely payments of principal 

and interest
	� For the purpose of examining whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal 

and interest, ‘principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition, ‘interest’ 
comprises consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk attributable to the 
principal amount outstanding during a certain period of time and for other risks and basic 
costs of a loan, as well as a profit margin.
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�In its examination whether contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and inter-
est, the Group examines the contractual terms of the instrument, and in this framework assesses 
whether the financial asset includes a contractual term that may change the timing or amount of the 
contractual cash flows such that it does not meet the condition. The Group takes into account the 
following considerations when making this assessment:
		   �Any contingent events that will change the timing or amount of the cash flows;
		   �Terms that may change the stated interest rate, including variable interest;
		   �Extension or early payment characteristics; and
		   �Terms that restrict the right of the Group to cash flows from specified assets (for ex-

ample a non-recourse financial asset).

	� An early payment characteristic is consistent with the solely principal and interest criterion if 
the amount of the early payment essentially represents unpaid amounts of principal and inter-
est on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable compensation, received 
or paid, for early termination of the contract. Moreover, for a financial asset acquired at a sig-
nificant premium or discount compared to the contractual stated value, a characteristic that 
permits or requires early payment at an amount essentially representing the contractual stated 
value and contractual accumulated unpaid interest (which may include Reasonable compensa-
tion, received or paid, for early termination), is consistent with the solely principal and interest 
criterion if the fair value of the early payment characteristic is insignificant at initial recognition. 

	
	 Derecognition of financial assets 
	 Financial asset is primarily de-recognized when: 
		   �The rights to receiver cash flows from the asset have expired, or
		   �The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has as-

sumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has trans-
ferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

	� When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks 
and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues 
to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the 
Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability 
are measured on the basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

	 Financial liabilities – classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
	� Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or fair value through profit 

or loss. A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as 
held for trading, is a derivative instrument or is designated for measurement as such at initial 
recognition. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, 
with the net gains and losses, including any interest expenses, being recognized in profit or 
loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effec-
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tive interest method. Interest expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized 
in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss.

	 �Derecognition of financial liabilities
	� Financial liabilities are derecognized when the contractual obligation of the Group expires or 

is discharged or cancelled. Furthermore, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing 
financial liability, or an exchange between an existing borrower and existing lender of debt 
instruments with substantially different terms, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability at fair value.

	� The difference between the carrying amount of the extinguished financial liability and the 
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or assumed liabilities), is rec-
ognized in profit or loss. In the case of an immaterial change in terms (or exchange of debt 
instruments), the new cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate, with 
the difference between the present value of the financial liability with the new terms and the 
present value of the original financial liability being recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment
	
	 Non-derivative financial assets
	 Financial assets, contract assets and lease receivables
	 The Group recognizes a provision for expected credit losses in respect of:
		   �Financial assets at amortized cost; and
		   �Lease receivables.

	� With respect to other debt assets, the Group measures the provision for expected credit losses 
at an amount equal to the full lifetime expected credit losses, other than the provisions here-
under that are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit losses:

		   �Debt instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; 
and

		   �Other debts instruments and deposits, for which credit risk has not increased signif-
icantly since initial recognition.

	� When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, and when estimating expected credit losses, the Group considers reason-
able and supportable information that is relevant and available with no undue cost or effort. 
Such information includes quantitative and qualitative information, and an analysis, based on 
the Group’s past experience and informed credit assessment, and it includes forward looking 
information. 

	� Lifetime expected credit losses are expected credit losses that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the financial asset. 12-month expected credit losses are the 
expected credit losses that result from possible default events within the 12-month period 
after the reporting date. The maximum period considered when assessing expected credit 
losses is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 | NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS         



45

	 Measurement of expected credit losses
	� Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are 

measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.

	 Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

	 Credit-impaired financial assets
	� At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost 

and debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are credit-impaired. 
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

	 Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following events:
		   �Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;
		   �A breach of contract such as a default or payments being past due;
		   �The restructuring of a loan or payment due to the Group on terms that the Group 

would not consider otherwise;
		   �It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganiza-

tion; or
		   �The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

	 Presentation of provision for expected credit losses in the statement of financial position:
		   �Provisions for expected credit losses of financial assets measured at amortized cost 

are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the financial assets;
		   �For investments in debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive in-

come, the provision for expected credit losses is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and it does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group does not have reasona-
ble expectations of recovering a financial asset at its entirety or a portion thereof. This is usually the 
case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that may 
generate sufficient cash flows for paying the amounts being written off. However, financial assets 
that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts due. Write-off constitutes a de-recognition event.

	 Non-financial assets
	 Timing of impairment testing
	� The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets (other than Investment properties 

and deferred tax assets), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.  
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	 Measurement of recoverable amount
	� The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use 

and its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the as-
sessments of market participants regarding the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset or cash-generating unit, for which the estimated future cash flows from the asset or 
cash-generating unit were not adjusted.

	 Recognition of impairment loss
	� An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 

exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
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Standard
interpretation
amendment

The requirements of the publication Effective date and 
transitional  
provisions

Expected  
effects

(1) �Amendment to IFRS 3,  
Business Combinations

The Amendment clarifies whether a 
transaction to acquire an operation is the 
acquisition of a "business" or an asset. 
For the purpose of this examination, the 
Amendment added an optional concen-
tration test so that if substantially all 
of the fair value of the acquired assets 
is concentrated in a single identifiable 
asset or a group of similar identifia-
ble assets, the acquisition will be of an 
asset. In addition, the minimum require-
ments for definition as a business have 
been clarified, such as for example the 
requirement that the acquired processes 
be substantive so that in order for it to be 
a business, the operation shall include at 
least one input element and one subs-
tantive process, which together signifi-
cantly contribute to the ability to create 
outputs. Furthermore, the Amendment 
narrows the reference to the outputs ele-
ment required in order to meet the defi-
nition of a business and added examples 
illustrating the aforesaid examination.

The Amendment is 
effective for trans-
actions to acquire an 
asset or business for 
which the acquisition 
date is in annual 
periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 
2020, with earlier 
application being 
permitted.

In the opinion of the 
Group, application 
of the Amendment 
may have a material 
effect on the accoun-
ting treatment of 
future acquisitions of 
operations.

(2) �Amendments to IFRS 9, 
Financial Instruments, 
IAS 39, Financial Inst-
ruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, and 
IFRS 7, Financial Inst-
ruments: Disclosures, 
Interest Rate Bench-
mark Reform  
("the Amendments")

The Amendments include several man-
datory reliefs relevant for examining 
whether a hedging relationship affected 
by the uncertainty arising from the IBOR 
interest rate reform (a reform that in 
the future will lead to the elimination 
of interest rates such as the Libor and 
Euribor interest rates) qualifies for hedge 
accounting. Thus for example:

• �When determining the probability of 
occurrence of the hedged cash flows, 
the existing contractual cash flows 
should be used, and future changes 
arising from the IBOR reform should 
be ignored.

• �When performing a prospective as-
sessment of effectiveness, the existing 
contractual terms of the hedged item 
and hedging item should be taken into 
consideration, and the uncertainties 
arising from the reform be ignored.

The Amendments 
are applicable retro-
spectively as from  
1 January 2020, with 
earlier application 
being permitted. The 
relief included in the 
Amendments will 
end on the earlier of: 
the date the uncer-
tainty arising from 
the reform no longer 
exists and the date 
the hedging relation-
ship was disconti-
nued.

In the opinion of the 
Group, application of 
the Amendments will 
not have a material 
effect on the finan-
cial statements.

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
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The carrying amounts of certain financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, 
trade receivables, other receivables, deposits, short-term loans and borrowings, trade payables, oth-
er payables are the same or proximate to their fair value.

As of the Report Date, the fair values of long-term bank and related party borrowings as presented in 
the statement of financial position approximates its fair values.

Note 4 – Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial assets such 
as investment properties at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

4.1 Fair values
�The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value for disclosure purposes only
�	

Carrying 
amount

EUR thousands

Fair 
value

EUR thousands

Carrying 
amount

EUR thousands

Fair 
value

EUR thousands

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 763,386 763,386 869,871 869,871
Senior Unsecured Bonds 975,267 1,020,366 - -
Total 1,738,653 1,783,752 869,871 869,871  

31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Carrying 
amount

EUR thousands

Fair 
value

EUR thousands

Carrying 
amount

EUR thousands

Fair 
value

EUR thousands

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value  
through profit and loss 18,982 18,982 1,712 1,712

Derivatives financial instruments 555 555 3,686 3,686
Total 19,537 19,537 5,398 5,398   

Financial liabilities
Derivatives financial instruments (230) (230) - -
Total (230) (230) -  -   

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
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4.2 Fair value measurement hierarchy
�
The following table shows the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities 
which are presented at fair value. We also refer to note 3.
 
There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during 2019 and 2018. We refer to 
note 6 for further disclosure regarding the fair value measurement of investment property per level 
3 hierarchy. 
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Total Quoted 
prices 

in active 
market 
(level1)

Significant 
observa-
ble inputs 
(level 2)

Significant 
unob-

servable 
inputs  

(level 3)

Total Quoted 
prices 

in active 
market 
(level1)

Significant 
observa-
ble inputs 
(level 2)

Significant 
unob-

servable 
inputs  

(level 3)
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands
EUR 

thousands

Financial assets
Investment 
property 3,708,610 - - 3,708,610 2,047,708 - - 2,047,708

Financial 
assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss

18,982 - - 18,982 - - - 1,712

Derivatives 
financial  
instruments

555 - 555 - 3,686 - 3,686 -

Total  3,728,147   - 555  3,727,592   2,051,394  - 3,686  2,049,420  

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Loans and 
borrowings 763,386 - 763,386 - 869,871 - 869,871 -

Senior Unse-
cured Bonds 1,020,366 1,020,366 - - - - - -

Total  1,783,522    1,020,366   763,156  -   869,871 - 869,871 -

Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivatives 
financial  
liabilities

(230) - (230) - - - - -

31 December 2019
Fair value measurement using

31 December 2018
Fair value measurement using
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Transaction costs amounted to approximately GBP 6.5 million (EUR 7.7 million) and are included in 
Administrative expenses in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

From the date of acquisition, the portfolio has contributed EUR 24.8 million to operating income and 
EUR 47.1 million to revenues. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the 
contribution to the profit after tax for the Group would approximate EUR 26.0 million and revenue 
would approximate EUR 53.3 million.

EUR thousands

Investment properties 319,508
Cash 3,899
Prepayments 863
Trade and other receivables 2,384
Inventory 474
Deferred tax liabilities (22,470)
Other financial liabilities (202,469)
Total identifiable assets 102,189
Gain on bargain purchase (39,378)
Total consideration 62,811
Satisfied by:   
Cash   62,811           

Cash flow analysis: 
Cash consideration 62,811
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (3,899)
Less: advance payments before Reporting period (37,099)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition in Reporting period 21,812

Note 5 – Assets’ acquisition and business combination

A. Business Combinations

In January 2019 the Group acquired 26 hotels in the United Kingdom in a share deal for a consideration 
of GBP 55.0 million (EUR 62.8 million). The Group paid a down payment of GBP 32.5 million (EUR 36.3 
million) in December 2018. The acquisition is accounted for as a business combination based on IFRS 
3, Business combinations. As the transaction occurred in an off-market transaction from a third-party 
seller, it resulted in a bargain purchase gain of GBP 34.5 million (EUR 39.4 million). 

In August 2019 the Group completed the transfer of its hotel operations within the UK to affiliated op-
erating companies outside of the Group (the “Hotel OpCos”), whereby the operations of the acquired 
hotels were transferred outside of the Group (the “PropCo Reorganisation”). Therefore, the hotels are 
classified as investment property and subsequently measured at fair value. As per 31 December 2019 
the Company earns rental income from the respective tenants of each of the properties in the portfolio.

The purchase price was allocated to the net identifiable assets and liabilities based on their fair values 
at the Acquisition Date, as follows: 
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B. Assets’ acquisitions 

During the Reporting Period, the Group gained control over 15 
properties through acquisitions of companies. The acquisitions 
were completed for a total consideration of EUR 875.2 million 
(EUR 901.2 million including transaction costs) primarily locat-
ed in Germany. Out of the total consideration EUR 75.5 million 
was already paid in 2018. The acquisitions were treated as asset 
acquisitions as the companies do not define as business per 
IFRS 3 for which no goodwill was recognized. Part of the assets 
acquired were classified as held for sale per the reporting date, 
refer to note 7.

C. Completed transaction

In June 2019 the Group completed the sale of one of its sub-
sidiaries, which owned a property in Germany for which assets 
and liabilities were classified as held for sale as at 31 December 
2018. The selling price was EUR 110.0 million, subject to work-
ing capital and other pricing adjustments. During the reporting period, the Group received a total 
consideration of EUR 105 million in cash. The group recognized a profit from the disposal of invest-
ment property of EUR 6.8 million in the reporting period and a receivable on the buyer of EUR 13.4 
million (included in Rent and Other Receivables). The receivable is calculated based on the provision-
al accounting records as at the disposal date and is subject to finalization of completion accounts.

In August 2019 the Group completed the transfer of its hotel operations within the UK to affiliated 
operating companies outside of the Group (the “Hotel OpCos”), whereby the operations of forty-six 
hotels were transferred outside of the Group and long-term operational leases have been entered 
into between the relevant property-owning companies within the Group (each a “Hotel PropCo”) and 
the Hotel OpCos (the “PropCo Reorganisation”). Subsequent to the Propco Reorganisation all our UK 
portfolio is leased in long term operational leases.  

In December 2019 the Group completed the disposal of one hotel in London for a consideration of 
GBP 90 million (EUR 105.8 million), subject to working capital adjustments. The final purchase price 
is expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2020. The Group recognized a profit from the 
disposal of the hotel of GBP 24.1 million (EUR 28.3 million) in the reporting period. The receivable 
is calculated based on the provisional accounting records as at the disposal date and is subject to 
finalization of completion accounts.

D. Uncompleted transactions

The Group made advance payments in amount of GBP 25.5 million (EUR 29.9 million) in relation to the 
purchase of 2 hotels in London (UK). The deal was completed on 7 January 2020. Refer to note 23A 
for details on this transaction. 

Opernplatz, Essen
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Office **

EUR 
thousands

Hotels **

EUR 
thousands

Other **

EUR 
thousands

Subtotal

EUR 
thousands

Hotels 

EUR 
thousands

EUR 
thousands

Balance as at 2 April 2018 - - - - - -
Acquisitions of investment 
property and investment in 
capex during the year, net 

  469,682          102,648        63,242       635,572        1,255,250    1,890,822     

Fair value adjustments   151,558       13,252        3,878        168,688      115,605    284,293     
Foreign currency revaluation 
effect - - - - (17,407)  (17,407)

Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - -
Total   621,240        115,900       67,120       804,260    1,353,448     2,157,708      
Less: classified as held for sale (110,000)   -      -     (110,000)    -     (110,000)  
At 31 December 2018   511,240        115,900        67,120       694,260      1,353,448     2,047,708   

Germany Total 2018UK

* The investment property table for Germany contains one property in another EU jurisdiction.
** Items were reclassified – refer to note 2A.

Office

EUR 
thousands

Hotels

EUR 
thousands

Other

EUR 
thousands

Subtotal

EUR 
thousands

Hotels 

EUR 
thousands

EUR 
thousands

Balance as at 1 January 2019 
(incl. held for sale assets)  621,240    115,900   67,120   804,260 1,353,448 2,157,708

Initial application of IFRS 16, 
see note 3 5,772    -      -     5,772      80,055       85,827        

Restated balance as at  
1 January 2019  627,012 115,900    67,120    810,032  1,433,503       2,243,535        

Acquisitions of investment 
property and investment in 
capex during the year, net 
(Note 5)

 936,442      32,829      66,793           1,036,064           322,521          
1,358,586     

Fair value adjustments  480,005    4,294        71         484,370      42,376      526,746       
Foreign currency revaluation 
effect - - - -     86,154     86,154         

Disposal of subsidiaries (112,056)   - -  (112,056)    (97,321)    (209,377)      
Total  1,931,404        153,023       133,984      2,218,411       1,787,234        4,005,644        
Less: classified as held for sale 
(Note 7) (225,160)    -     (71,874)      (297,034)          -     (297,034)     

At 31 December 2019  1,706,244       153,023       62,110      1,921,377        1,787,234    3,708,610     

Germany * Total 2019UK

Note 6 - Investment Property

A. Reconciliation of investment property, according to its predominant use 
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B. Measurement of fair value

Investment properties are measured at its fair 
value, which has been determined based on 
valuations performed by external independ-
ent appraisers with recognized professional 
expertise and vast experience as to the loca-
tion and category of the property being val-
ued, based on market conditions prevailing 
as of the Report Date, by reference to prop-
erties with similar condition and location, as 
well as by using valuations techniques such 
as Discounted Cash Flow Method (“DCF”), 
in accordance with the Royal Institution of 
Charted Surveyors (the “Red Book”) and with 
International Valuation Standards (IVS), as 
set out by the International Valuation Stand-
ards Committee (IVSC). 

Under the DCF method the forecasted future income and costs of the property over a 10 years period 
are discounted to the date of valuation, by using discounts rates which is suitable in the appraisers’ 
and Group management’s view to the specific property location and category, specific characteristics 
and inherent risk as well as the prevailing market conditions as of the Report Date, and an exit value 
at the end of the detailed cash flow period. The income mainly comprises expected rental income 
(current in-place rent, market rents as well as their development) net of operating expenses esti-
mation, taking vacancy and lease-up assumptions into account, as well as estimation of anticipated 
capital expenditure. 

Where applicable, the appraisers use the Residual value method through capitalizing the future mar-
ket value of the property once it is developed, less estimated cost to complete. The rental levels are 
set at the current market levels capitalized at the net yield which reflects the risks inherent in the net 
cash flows.

	 Fair value hierarchy
	� The Group’s investment property has been categorized as Level 3 Fair Value (as described in 

note 4) based on the input to the valuation technique used and was determined considering 
the highest and best use measurement approach according to IFRS 13.

	 There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 or 3 during 2019.

	 Key parameters used in the valuation
	� The following table gives an overview of the main valuation parameters and valuation results 

as of 31 December 2019:

Kurfürstendamm, Berlin
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	 Sensitivity analysis
	� The main value drivers influenced by the market for commercial properties are the market 

rents and their movement, rent increases, the vacancy rate and interest rates. Significant 
increases (decreases) in market rent and rent increases in isolation would result in a signifi-
cantly higher (lower) fair value of the properties. Significant increases (decreases) in vacancy 
rates and discount rate (and exit yield) in isolation would result in a significantly lower (higher) 
value. 

	� The effect of possible fluctuations in these parameters is shown separately for each parame-
ter in the following table, for the German real estate properties. Interactions between the pa-
rameters are possible but cannot be quantified due to the complexity of the interrelationships.

	� Assuming all other variables remain constant, an opposite change in the parameters at the 
same percentage would have a similar impact on the value, although in the opposite direction.

	� The effect of possible fluctuations in these parameters is shown separately for each parame-
ter in the following table, for the hotel properties located in the UK. Interactions between the 
parameters are possible but cannot be quantified due to the complexity of the interrelation-
ships.

Valuation parameter Change in  
Parameter

EUR thousands % EUR thousands %

Discount rate -0.25% 24,828  1.31%  18,426 2.60%
Capitalization rate -0.25% 48,899  2.59%  24,747 3.60%

Change in value 2018Change in value 2019

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 | NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS         

Class of property Fair value
2019

thousands

Fair value
2018

thousands

Valuation  
technique

Key  
unobserva-
ble inputs

Weighted  
average 

2019

Weighted  
average 

2018
Hotel properties 
in United 
Kingdom

EUR 1,717,553
GBP 1,459,800  

EUR 1,353,448
GBP 1,210,700 DCF   

Weighted avg  
value per 
room 

GBP 198,006 GBP 220,000

Discount rate 7.67% 6.60%
Terminal cap 
rate 6.07% 4.90%

German real  
estate property EUR 1,888,710 EUR 804,260 DCF   Value per  

square meter EUR 3,710 EUR 1,928

Market rent 
per square 
meter 

EUR 15.81 EUR 12.07

Discount rate 3.91% 5.13%
Terminal cap 
rate 4.32% 5.07%

* Reported fair value excludes right-of-use assets per IFRS 16.
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Valuation parameter Change in  
Parameter

EUR thousands % EUR thousands %

Discount rate -0.25% 27,100  1.86%           22,500      1.87%
Capitalization rate -0.25% 38,300  2.62%           35,000     2.87%

Change in value 2018
(restated)

Change in value 2019

Note 7 – Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

The Group expects to sale multiple properties which no longer meet the investment criteria or have 
already realized their material potential. The Group has initiated selling activities and for some of the 
properties discussions and negotiations are ongoing. These properties are located in Germany. 

A breakdown of the assets and liabilities held for sale is provided below:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

Assets   
Investment property 297,034  
Trade and other receivables 4,110  
Cash and cash equivalents 2,742  
Other assets 4,101  

307,987  

Liabilities   
Loans and borrowings                  8,399   
Trade and other payables                  17,135      
Other long-term liabilities                      130   
Deferred tax liabilities                      9,520   

             35,184      
Net assets held-for-sale	  272,803              
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Rent and service charge receivables are non-interest bearing and are typically due within 30 days.
Refer to Note 22 Financial Instruments for further detail on credit risk.

Note 9 – Equity

Share capital and share premium

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company as at incorporation date is fixed EUR 12,000 
represented by 12,000 shares having a nominal value of one euro each (“the Shares” and each a 
“Share”). 

On 22 November 2018 the Company issued 2 shares to its parent company, Vivion Holdings S.à r.l., for 
the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Vivion CP and LIC 210 (see Note 1).

Composition of the share capital:

Note 8 - Trade and Other Receivables

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Rent and service charge receivables              5,382     18,099   
Less: provision for impairment             (1,815) (1,290)   

                   3,567     16,809   
Receivables on related parties (Note 21)          14,964                             415   
Receivables in relation to transactions             17,848                             -     
Receivable on NCI shareholder               4,622                      4,629   
VAT refundable               7,142                     1,681   
Tax receivables                      995                      1,051   
Other receivables           74                        489   
Total 49,212 25,074

2019
EUR thousands

Share premium reserve 53,030  
Contributions -
At 31 December 2019 53,030

2018
EUR thousands

26 October 2018 -  
Contributions                  53,030   
At 31 December 2018 53,030
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	 �

	 �

	 �

	 �

	 �

Weighted average 
interest rate loans

Maturity 31 December 
2019

EUR thousands

31 December 
2018

EUR thousands

EUR Loans from credit institutions (1–4) 1.77%  2023 149,370 104,829

GBP Loans from credit institutions (1–2) 3M Libor + 3.60%   2024–                           
2027 518,516 765,042

Credit facilities from banks (5)  1.80%  2026 95,500 -

Total non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings 763,386  869,871  

Loans classified as held for sale  8,399    15,742

Current maturities of loans and borrowings  10,166  8,896

Total 781,951 894,509

Note 10 – Loans and Borrowings and Bonds

A. Loans and borrowings composition
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  2026.
  Reporting Date. The loan bears an interest rate of 3M Euribor + 1.80%, maturing October
  amount of EUR 102.3 million, of which EUR 95.5 million have been drawn down as of the

(5) On  2  October  2019,  a  subsidiary  of  the  Group  received  a  bank  facility  agreement  in  the
  loan in amount of EUR 105.1 million with 3M Euribor + 1.54%, maturing September 2024.

(4) On 30 September 2019, a subsidiary of the Group was able to refinance an existing bank
  of 2.25%.
  loans in aggregate amount of EUR 52 million with an annual weighted average interest rate

(3) As part of an asset acquisition in January 2019 as per note 5B, the group acquired bank
at the Report Date amounts to EUR 1,675.1 million (2018: EUR 1,675.0 million).

(2) To secure bank loans and borrowings the Group pledged properties whose total fair value  
  2019, the Group is fully compliant with all covenant requirements.
  coverage ratios, NOI Debt Yield minimum and loan to annual rent ratio. As at 31 December
  maintain certain financial ratios, inter-alia, LTV ratios, debt service coverage ratio, interest

(1) As part of the bank loans received by the Group, the Group companies have undertaken to
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C. Reconciliation of carrying amount
	�
The reconciliation of the changes in interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings arising from fi-
nancing activities is provided below:

1 January 
2019
EUR 

thousands

Acquisiti-
ons (dis-
posal) of 
subsidia-
ries, net

EUR 
thousands

New bank 
loans
EUR 

thousands

Repay-
ment of 

bank loans
EUR 

thousands

Issuance 
of notes

EUR 
thousands

Debt 
issuance 

costs
EUR 

thousands

Amor-
tization 
of debt 

issuance 
costs
EUR 

thousands

Foreign 
exchange 

effect
EUR 

thousands

31  
December 

2019
EUR 

thousands

Loans and  
borrowings  894,509  60,183 518,819 (716,295) - (4,842) 9,017 20,559  781,951 

Senior 
Unsecured 
Bonds

- - - -  996,037  (22,458)   1,688  -  975,267  

Senior Unsecured Bonds Currency Nominal 
amount (in 
millions)

Coupon 
rate  

(p.a., %)

Issue price 
(%)

Issuance- 
maturity

31 December 
2019

Bond I EUR 700 3.000% 100 08/2019 - 
08/2024 683,678

Bond II EUR 300 3.500% 98.679 10/2019 - 
10/2025 291,589

Total Senior Unsecured Bonds 975,267

Total accrued interest on Senior Unsecured Bonds 10,167

2 April 
2018
EUR 

thousands

Acquisiti-
ons (dis-
posal) of 
subsidia-
ries, net

EUR 
thousands

New bank 
loans
EUR 

thousands

Repay-
ment of 

bank loans
EUR 

thousands

Issuance 
of notes

EUR 
thousands

Debt 
issuance 

costs
EUR 

thousands

Amor-
tization 
of debt 

issuance 
costs
EUR 

thousands

Foreign 
exchange 

effect
EUR 

thousands

31  
December 

2018
EUR 

thousands

Loans and 
borrowings - 694,669 799,282 (579,419) -  (10,858)   1,131  (10,295)  894,509  

B. Senior Unsecured Bonds
	�
In July 2019 the Company completed its unsecured public market debut through the issuance of EUR 
700 million Senior Unsecured Notes due July 2024. In October 2019 the company had a successful 
second issuance of EUR 300 million Senior Unsecured Notes due October 2026. The Notes are admit-
ted to the Official List of Euronext Dublin and are trading on the Global Exchange Market of Euronext 
Dublin.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 | NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS         



59

	 (1) �The loans bear 5.25%-5.90% annual interest rate which is compounded to the loan principal 
on an annual basis, payable in the 10th anniversary year (2028). In addition, the Company at 
it sole discretion, have the right to prepay the loan at any time subject to 3 days’ notice, or 
to extend the loan term by additional five years. The Company may, occasionally at its sole 
discretion, subject to 7 days’ notice, convert the loan into its own Ordinary shares according 
to a fixed to variable conversion price which reflects the Company’s value based on external 
valuation report as of the date of conversion. The loans are unsecured and subordinated to 
the other Company’s loans.

	
	 (2) �As part of the share subscription agreements with non-controlling interest shareholders in 

Golden, the non-controlling interest shareholders provided loans to Golden (the “Investors’ 
Loans”). The loans have a principal value of EUR 287.5 million and bear 5.25% annual inter-
est rate which is compounded to the loan principal on an annual basis, payable in the 10th 
anniversary year (2028 and 2029). In addition, Golden at its sole discretion, have the right to 
prepay the loan at any time subject to 3 days’ notice, or to extend the loan term by additional 
five years. It was also agreed that Golden may, occasionally at its sole discretion, subject 
to 7 days’ notice, convert the loan into its own ordinary shares according to a conversion 
price which reflects Golden’s share capital value based on external valuation report as of 
the date of conversion.  

	
	      The Investors’ Loans are unsecured and subordinated to bank loans in Golden. 
	
	 (3) �Any prepayment or conversion of the Investors’ Loans may be executed only on a pro rata 

basis according to each shareholder stake in Golden.

	 (4) �Loans from shareholders and non-controlling interests are unsecured and subordinated to 
the other Group debt to third parties. 

Note 11 – Loans with Related Parties and Non-Controlling Interests

A. Loans from related parties and non-controlling interests

Loans from related parties include loans from shareholders, and other related parties. Further detail 
is provided below:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Vivion Holdings S.à r.l. - EUR (1)               282,960       304,139   
Vivion Holdings S.à r.l. - GBP 442,331 (1)                497,002    408,588   
Accrued interest on related party loans (1) 75,155 27,040
Other related party loans (4)                    622    6,370   
Related party loans 855,739         746,137   
Loans from non-controlling interests - Golden (2) (3)              306,530         206,995   
Other loans from non-controlling interests (4) 4,722  -  
Total               1,166,991        953,133      
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Note 12 – Trade and other payables

Note 13 – Other short term liabilities

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Trade payables                 21,720                 10,487 *  
Other accrued expenses                   9,245                   13,771   
Total 30,965  24,258     

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Accrued interest on loans, borrowings and bonds                 15,263                  5,368  
Deferred income 13,852 2,516
Other                   826                   706   
Total 29,941 8,590     

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Investment in equity-accounted investee                    3,206    -   
Loans to equity-accounted investee                  10,684   -   
Total                13,890   -      

B. Investment and loans to equity-accounted investee

Loans from related parties include loans from shareholders, and other related parties. Further detail 
is provided below:

The balance as at 31 December 2019 reflects a 50% joint-venture investment, where the Group con-
tributed loans in amount of EUR 10.5 million.

* Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified.
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Note 16 – Service charge, other property operating 
expenses and cost of sales

A. Leased investment property

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Service charge expenses                  14,614   9,050 *      
Property operations and maintenance                    2,208   1,344
Others                   3,172   590  
Subtotal 19,994   10,984         

Note 15 – Revenues

For further information regarding reportable segments, see Note 20 on Operating Segments.

The Group completed the restructuring of its hotel portfolio in the United Kingdom. This resulted in 
the disposal of the hotel operations outside of the Group, with the hotel properties remaining. The 
Group entered into index linked lease agreements with the respective tenants of the properties for 
a minimum period of 16 years, resulting in annual EUR 90.9 million (GBP 77.3 million) additional in-
place rent.  

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Revenues from contracts with customers                178,611    167,465   
Rental income                  98,759    24,777   

277,370    192,242         

Note 14 – Contingent liabilities and commitments 

The Group is exposed to various other legal claims arising from the ordinary course of business 
which are individually and in aggregate considered not material. 

In addition, the Group has approximately EUR 49.9 million in short-term commitments to future cap-
ital expenditure on properties in Germany.  

* Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified.
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Note 17 - Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling expenses

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Sales, marketing and brand fees                   10,923                10,636 *     
Travel agents commissions                   9,164                         8,502   
Salaries and related expenses                    2,661                         1,880   
Other selling expenses                    761      130 *     
Total selling expenses 23,509       21,148            

Presented in:
Cost of hotel operations                 60,069      
Other property operating expenses                  23,624         
Service charge expenses                    14,614      

98,307          

B. Hotel operations

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Salaries and related expenses                  35,802       31,224      
Cost of inventories               21,646         20,111 *
Other hotel operation expenses                  10,556      7,970
Real estate taxes and insurance                    10,307      10,234  
Subtotal 78,311     69,540  
Total operating expenses                  98,307          80,524           

Refer to note 5C and 15 for description of the hotel restructuring which impacts the cost of sales in 
relation to the Groups hotel operations. 

* Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified.

* Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified
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Note 18 - Finance expenses

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Interest expense on bank loans                  40,885                    21,805   
Interest expense on bonds                  10,167                          -     
Interest expense on related party loans                  44,054                    27,040   
Interest expense on loans from NCI                  14,160                      6,790   
Less: amounts capitalized (3,579)   (3,474)   
Total interest expense              106,687  52,161
Interest income on third parties (1,421)   -
Total net interest expense              105,265   52,161  
Credit card charges                      3,169        1,889
Lease financing expenses per IFRS 16                    5,402   -
Amortization of finance fees                    10,606         1,131
Cash flow hedge result                    3,491   2,763
Other finance expense                  5,152        367
Total finance expenses 133,085       58,311         

Administrative expenses

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Legal and professional fees                    11,982   2,226*   
Salaries and related expenses                    9,692                         8,998   
Acquisition costs                    7,684                      3,752   
Audit fees                   1,144                           751   
Other general and administrative expenses                  5,991                 8,083*  
Total administrative expenses 36,492     23,810

* Refer to note 2A, items were reclassified
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31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Current tax expense
Current year 13,927   4,973
Adjustments for prior years, net 3,013 (911)

16,940   4,063
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 78,829  50,633
Income tax expense 95,769          54,696         

Note 19 - Income tax

The main tax laws imposed on the Group companies in their countries of residence:

	 (1) ��United Kingdom
	� The UK subsidiaries are subject to taxation under the laws of the United Kingdom. The corpo-

ration tax rate for UK companies in 2019 is 19%.

	 (2) Germany
	� The German subsidiaries are subject to taxation under the laws of Germany. Income taxes are 

calculated using a federal corporate tax of 15% for 31 December 2019, plus an annual solidar-
ity surcharge of 5.5% on the amount of federal corporate taxes payable (aggregate tax rate: 
15.825%).

	 (3) Luxembourg
	� The Company and part of its subsidiaries are subject to taxation under the laws of Luxem-

bourg. The corporation tax rate for Luxembourgish companies is per 1 January 2019 reduced 
to 24.94% (2018: 26.01%).

	 �(4) Cyprus
 	� The Cypriot subsidiaries are subject to taxation under the laws of Cyprus. The corporation tax 

rate for Cypriot companies is 12.5%. Under certain conditions interest income of the Cyprus 
companies may be subject to defence contribution at the rate of 30%. In such cases this inter-
est will be exempt from corporation tax. In certain cases, dividends received from abroad may 
be subject to defence contribution at the rate of 17%.

Composition of income tax expense (income)

The major components of income tax expense recorded in the profit or loss statement are:
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Note 20 - Operating Segments

The Group has two reportable segments - as described below, which form the Group’s strategic busi-
ness units. The allocation of resources and evaluation of performance are managed separately for 
each business unit because they have different asset class and different geography, hence exposed 
to different risks and required yields. 

The deferred income tax liability arises from the following components:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Per beginning period                113,508                          -     
Revaluations of investment property to fair value                  80,831                    50,633   
Acquired through business combination                  22,470                    64,194   
Derecognition due to disposal of subsidiary (15,670)                             -     
Foreign exchange differences                    5,738   (1,349)   
Other                    (3,430)                               30   
Total 203,447     113,508           

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Luxemburg’s tax rate is as follows:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Accounting profit before income tax             585,078      332,606
At Luxemburg statutory tax rate of 24.94%                145,919  86,511
Income not taxable for tax purposes           (19,018)   (8,593)
Non-deductible expenses                  10,143   2,964
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (52,381)     (27,708)
Deferred tax assets not recognized for tax losses
and other timing differences                    3,083   2,705

Adjustments for prior years 3,013 (911)
Other differences, net                     5,011 (272)
Income tax expenses reported in  
the statement of profit or loss             95,769        54,696         

The deferred income tax liability is reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Deferred tax liabilities 193,927    103,416
Investment property liabilities held for sale 9,520     10,092
Total deferred income tax liability 203,447     113,508         
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For each of the business units, the Group’s chief operating decision maker (CODM) reviews manage-
ment reports on at least a quarterly basis for:
	  �Properties located in Germany
	  �Properties located in the United Kingdom

Commercial properties in Germany include predominately office asset class (88.5% of the total fair 
value of the German portfolio as of the Report Date). The other asset class in Germany include ho-
tels, residential and retail investment property. None of these segments meets any of the quantitative 
thresholds for determining reportable segments during the Reporting period.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as described in Note 3 regard-
ing significant accounting policies presented above. Performance is measured based on segment 
operating profit as included in reports that are regularly reviewed by the CODM. Segment profit is 
used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant 
in evaluating the segments’ results. Segment results reported to the CODM including items directly 
attributable to a segment on a reasonable basis. Financial expenses, financial income and taxes on 
income are managed on a group basis and, therefore, were not allocated to the different segment 
activities. Segment assets comprise mainly investment property, cash and equivalents and operating 
receivables whereas segment liabilities comprise mainly borrowings and operating payables.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is provided below: 

United Kingdom 

EUR thousands

Germany 

EUR thousands

Total 
Consolidated
EUR thousands

Year ended 31 December 2019
Revenues 226,348          51,023    277,370         
Operating expenses (81,075)   (17,232)   (98,307)   
Reportable segment  
gross profit  145,272        33,790   179,063         

Selling and administrative  
expenses (52,213)   (7,788)   (60,001)   

Changes in fair value of  
investment property  42,376       479,064    521,440   

Reportable segment  
operating profit  135,436         505,066      640,502       

Bargain purchase gain  39,378   
Profit on disposal  35,077      
Share in profit from equity-accounted investee	  3,206   
Net finance expenses (133,085)   
Profit before tax  135,436         505,067          585,078         
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Year ended 31 December 2018 United 
Kingdom

EUR thousands

Germany

EUR thousands

Total
Consolidated
EUR thousands

Revenues 163,064 29,178 192,242
Operating expenses (69,540) (10,984) (80,524)
Reportable segment gross profit 93,524 18,194 111,718
Selling and administrative expenses (38,724) (87) (38,811)
Changes in fair value of
investment properties 115,605 165,214 280,819

Reportable segment operating profit 170,405 183,321 353,726
Bargain purchase gain 43,207
Administrative expenses (6,147)

Net finance expenses (58,180)
Profit before tax 332,607

Note 21 – Related party disclosures 

The immediate parent of the Company is Vivion Holdings S.à r.l., a company incorporated in Luxem-
burg and registered at 155 Rue Cents, 1319, Luxemburg.
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the parent and 
its subsidiaries. The principal activities of the Group are described in Note 1. The Group’s investment 
in significant subsidiaries are listed in the following table:

Subsidiary 
Subsidiaries held directly and  
indirectly by the Company

Country of 
incorporation

Principal 
activities

% equity interest
2019

% equity interest
2018

Lux Investment Company 210 S.à r.l. Luxembourg Financing 100% 100%
Ribbon HoldCo Limited United Kingdom Holdings 100% 100%
UK Investment Company 211 
Mezz HoldCo Limited United Kingdom Holdings 100% 100%

Zinc Hotels HoldCo Limited United Kingdom Holdings 100% 100%
Vivion Capital Partners S.A. Luxembourg Financing 100% 100%
Golden Capital Partners S.A. Luxembourg Holdings 51.5% 60.3%
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The following balances with related parties are included in the consolidated financial statements:

Certain companies belonging to the Golden group are engaged with affiliated companies to the ul-
timate beneficial owner of the Company for providing services to these Golden group companies. 
These services include General Management, Asset Management, Property Management, Project 
Management and Facility Management, which are being charged for as rates of the rental income of 
the respective property company, according to the agreement with the Investors. The above amount 
excludes facility management fees recoverable from tenants.

Certain hotel companies in the UK belonging to the Group are engaged with affiliated companies to 
the ultimate beneficial owner of the Company for providing services to these group companies. These 
services are Property Management which are being charged for as rates of the Gross Operating Profit 
of the respective hotel company. 

Following the Propco reorganization as described in note 5C and 15, rental agreements in an aggre-
gate amount of GBP 77.3 million were signed with affiliated companies. The lease agreements for our 
UK hotel properties provide for fixed lease payments which are secured in substantially all cases by 
rent guarantees. Substantially all Hotel OpCo minority investors provided rent guarantees.

There were no dividends paid to non-controlling interests in the year.

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Consolidated statement of financial position
Receivables from related parties                     14,964          486   
Investment and loans to equity-accounted investee                    10,684    -   
Loans to related parties - 1,119

28,854      1,605    
Payables to related parties -   (94)   
Loans from related parties (855,739)   (746,137) *   

(855,739)  (746,231)     
Net payable to related parties  (826,855)  (744,626)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Rental income                    36,952      0   
Interest income on loans to related parties                     2,208   71
Services and management fee charges (2,415)   (779)
Interest on loans from Related Parties (43,248)   (27,040)   
Net expense relating to related party transactions (6,503)  (27,749)   
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22.1 Composition of financial instruments

	 Financial assets

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Financial assets at amortized cost
Trade and other receivables                  49,212                    25,074   
Cash and cash equivalents                128,473                       61,213      
Advances payment for investment property                  29,973                  111,451      
Restricted bank and other deposits                  21,707                    22,557     
Other financial assets                  18,982                      1,712      
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial assets                      555  3,686  
Total              248,902     225,693     

	 Financial liabilities

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Trade and other payables                  30,965                       32,143   
Income tax payables                  9,265                         3,487   
Other short-term liabilities                    29,941                             705   
Loans and borrowings* 773,552                       878,767   
Bonds                975,267                          -     
Loans from related parties                855,739                         746,138   
Loans from non-controlling interests                311,252                  206,995   
Tenant deposits                    2,679                      1,475   
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial liabilities 230 -
Total 2,988,890   1,869,709  

* Including current maturities of loans and borrowings.

Note 22 - Financial Instruments and risk management

The Group’s principal financial liabilities are loans, notes and borrowings. The main purpose of these 
loans, notes and borrowings is to finance the acquisition of its property portfolio. The Group has rent 
and other receivables, trade and other payables and cash and cash equivalents that arise directly 
from its operations.
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22.2 Risk Management 

The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
	  �Credit risk
	  �Liquidity risk
	  �Interest rate risk
	  �Foreign exchange risk

This note presents quantitative and qualitative information about the Group’s exposure to each of the 
above risks, and the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. 

The Board of Managers has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and the Group’s activities.

22.2.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a tenant or counter party to a financial instru-
ment fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises mainly from the group’s receivables from 
tenant. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. 

Impairment losses on financial assets were recognized as follows:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Impairment loss on receivables arising from contract  
with customers 1,816   1,290   

Impairment loss on cash and cash equivalents                        -                            -     
Impairment loss on derivative financial instruments                        -                            -     

	
	 Receivables
	� The Group has policies in place to ensure that lease contracts are made with tenants which 

have an appropriate credit history and monitors on a continuous basis the ageing profile of its 
receivables. Credit risk is further managed by requiring tenants to pay rentals in advance. An 
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major ten-
ants. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each 
class of financial asset.

	 Cash and cash equivalents
	� The Group holds cash and cash equivalents with banks and financial institutions with a short-

term rating of P1 to P3 based on the ratings of Moody’s. 
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31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Euro-zone countries                  30,867          15,580   
United Kingdom                  18,345       15,117  
Total 49,212         30,697  

	� Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the basis of the expected 
loss. The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the 
credit ratings of the counterparties.

	 Derivatives
	 �The counterparty of the derivatives held by the Group is financial institutions rated A1 based 

on the rating of Moody’s.

		  1. Exposure to credit risk
		�  The maximum exposure to credit risk for rent and other receivables at the reporting 

date by geographic regions was as follows:

		�  The maximum exposure to credit risk for rent and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents and derivative financial instruments at the reporting date by type of coun-
terparty was as follows:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018
EUR thousands

Trade and other receivables 49,212        30,697
Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted bank and other deposits)
Rated P1           147,144   89,254
Rated P2           2,989   1,176
Rated P3               2,789   -
Derivative financial instruments
Rated A1 324 3,686
Total 202,458 124,813

		  2. Assessment of expected credit losses
		�  As at 31 December 2019, the breakdown of rent receivables is set out below:

Gross carrying 
amount 

EUR thousands

Provision for  
impairment 
EUR thousands

Credit impaired 
financial asset 

EUR thousands

Not past due                    38                       -     38
Past due 0-30 days             1,098                      -                  1,098   
Past due 31-120 days              498                       -                    498   
Past due 120 days to one year               2,622                    690                 1,932   
Past due more than one year               1,126                 1,126                       -   
Total  5,382   1,816    3,566    
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	 	� As at 31 December 2018, the breakdown of rent receivables is set out below:

	 	� The fair value of the receivables approximates the net carrying amount. 

Gross carrying 
amount 

EUR thousands

Provision for  
impairment 
EUR thousands

Credit impaired 
financial asset 

EUR thousands

Not past due 14,708 - 14,708
Past due 0-30 days 354 - 354
Past due 31-120 days 1,664 - 1,664  
Past due 120 days to one year 570 487 83
Past due more than one year 803 803 -
Total 18,099   1,290    16,809 

22.2.2 Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasts are determined on both an individual company basis and a consolidated basis. 
The Company examines current forecasts of its liquidity requirements to ensure that there is suffi-
cient cash for its operating needs, and it is careful at all times to have enough unused credit facilities 
so that the Company does not exceed its credit limits. These forecasts take into consideration mat-
ters such as plan the Group may occasionally have to use additional debt and/or equity for financing 
its activity, as well as compliance with law requirements.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities at undiscounted amounts and 
based on the future rates forecasted at the reporting date, including estimated interest payments. 
This disclosure excludes the impact of netting agreements:

2019
Carrying 
amount

EUR 
thousands

Contractual 
cash flows

EUR 
thousands

2020
EUR 

thousands

2021
EUR 

thousands

2022 
EUR 

thousands

> 2023
EUR 

thousands

Loans and borrowings  773,551    881,943    44,169    44,500    44,805    748,469   
Bonds  975,267    1,168,000    31,500    31,500    31,500    1,073,500   
Loans from related parties  855,739    1,334,432    -      -     (5,119)   1,375,920   
Loans from non-controlling 
interests  311,252    456,408    -      -      6,260    450,148   

Tenant deposits  2,679    2,784    514    107    127    2,037   

Trade and other payables 30,965     30,965     30,965      -      -      -     
Total  2,949,453   3,874,532   107,148   76,107   77,573   3,650,074  
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2018
Carrying 
amount

EUR 
thousands

Contractual
cash flows

EUR 
thousands

2019
EUR 

thousands

2020
EUR 

thousands

2021
EUR 

thousands

> 2022
EUR 

thousands

Loans and borrowings  894,509    1,115,786    74,269    57,500    159,688    824,329   
Shareholders loans  712,727    1,188,897    -      -      -      1,188,897   
Other loans from related  
parties  6,370    8,328    -      3,009    1,641    3,678   

Loans from non-controlling 
interests  206,995    308,423    10,867    10,867    10,867    275,821   

Tenant deposits  1,475    1,475    487    67    51    870   
Trade and other payables  32,143    32,143    32,143    -      -      -     
Total  1,854,219    2,655,052    117,766    71,443    172,248    2,293,596   

As disclosed in Note 10 regarding loans and borrowings, the Group has secured bank loans which 
contain financial covenants. The breach of a financial covenant may require the Group to repay part 
of the loans earlier than indicated in the above table. 

The actual interest payments on variable interest rate loans may be different from the amounts in the 
above table.

The liquidity analysis presented above includes maximum amounts that may be required in respect of 
a financial guarantee granted. Nevertheless, it is clarified that the Group does not expect to pay these 
amounts as the debtor is not expected to default. 

Except for these financial liabilities, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity 
analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

22.2.3. Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk from its variable-rate debt instruments as the Group’s in-
terest-bearing borrowings bear Euribor based variable interest. An increase in the Euribor interest 
rate would cause an increase in the Company’s interest expenses and financing cash outflows. 
The analysis below describes reasonably possible movements in interest rates with all other varia-
bles held constant, showing the impact on profit before tax and pre-tax equity. It should be noted that 
the impact of movement in the variables is not necessarily linear.

The impact on the Group’s annual finance expenses would be as follows:

31 December 2019
EUR thousands

31 December 2018 (restated)
EUR thousands

+ 15 bps - 15 bps + 15 bps - 15 bps 

3M Libor          790   (790)  1,170   (1,170)      
3M Euribor               39   (39) 357   (357)
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During the year, one of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased two interest rate caps, to hedge the 
interest risk of the GBP Libor interest rate up to 2%, in notional amount of GBP 515 million. The de-
rivative is not accounted for through hedging accounting. The fair value of the interest rate cap as of 
the Report Date amounted to GBP 3.3 million (EUR 3.7 million).

	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
	� The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss, and the Group does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as 
hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in inter-
est rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through prof-
it or loss, and the Group does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments 
under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the end of the 
reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

22.2.4. Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group functional currency is the Euro. The Group has net investments in foreign operations 
whose functional currency is the GBP and is therefore exposed to currency risk due to the fluctua-
tions of the currency exchange rates in translation of financial statements of the foreign operations 
from GBP to EUR.

Interest on borrowings is denominated in the currency of the borrowing. Generally, according the 
Group’s policy loan borrowings are obtained in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the 
respective underlying operations of the Group, primarily GBP and EUR. This provides an economic 
hedge without derivatives being entered into and without application of hedge accounting.

The company continuously monitors its foreign currency exposure both from a fair value and cash 
flow perspective. To the extent there is no natural hedging, the Group ensures that its net exposure 
is kept to an acceptable level by keeping these foreign assets or liabilities to minimum levels. The 
Group entered into GBP/EUR forward contracts to hedge GBP exposure with notional value of GBP 
100 million as per the Reporting date. 

22.2.5. Other risks

The Group’s portfolio is located in major cities and strong markets throughout Germany and the Unit-
ed Kingdom. The current regional distribution structure enables the Group on one hand to benefit of 
economic scale, and on the other provided a diverse well allocated and risk-averse portfolio.
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24.2.6. Capital management

The Group manages its capital in order to ensure it is able to continue as a going concern with pres-
ervation of liquidity. The Group aims to increase the overall portfolio value. Management continuously 
monitors performance indicators, such as Loan to Value ratio (LTV), which is calculated on both entity 
and portfolio levels, where applicable, which enables monitoring to remain within its quantitative 
covenants originating from bank financing, other debt financing instruments and to support its credit 
rating. We are committed to optimizing our capital structure in order to reduce our overall cost of 
capital, balance our cash flow profile and maximize operational flexibility. In order to achieve this, we 
regularly access both dept and equity capital from a range of capital providers. During the reporting 
period, the Group complied with all externally imposed capital requirements and financial covenants. 

Note 23 - Subsequent Events

	 A. �On 7 January 2020, the Group acquired 2 hotels in London (UK) in a share deal. The Group 
paid a down payment of GBP 25.5 million (EUR 29.9 million) in December 2019. The acqui-
sition will be treated as a business combination based on IFRS 3, Business Combinations. 

	�    � �The purchase price will be allocated to the net identifiable assets and liabilities based on 
their relative fair values at the Acquisition Date, as follows based on provisional amounts:

 	     Transaction costs amounted to approximately GBP 5 million (EUR 5.9 million).

EUR thousands

Investment properties          350,578 
Cash             3,264 
Trade and other receivables              3,573  
Inventory                379 
Deferred tax liabilities            (3,780) 
Other financial liabilities            (7,036) 
Total identifiable assets 346,978
Gain on bargain purchase           (47,989) 
Total consideration 298,989
Satisfied by:
Cash 298,989
Cash flow analysis:
Cash consideration          298,988 
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired            (3,264) 
Less: advance payments in 2019           (29,950) 
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 265,774

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 | NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS         



76

	 B. �On 6 January 2020, the Group received additional capital contributions amounting to EUR 
250 million from Vivion's controlling shareholder.	

	 C. �On 3 February 2020 the Group obtained a bank loan in an amount of EUR 29 million. The 
loan bear interest rate of 3M Euribor plus 1.51% with final maturity on 31 November 2024 
and is secured by a property with fair value of EUR 63.2 million. The group acquired an in-
terest rate cap derivative to mitigate the interest risk exposure.

	 D. �On 5 March 2020 Golden completed the increase of the company’s capital and sharehold-
er loans, where Investors and Vivion as controlling shareholder contributed capital in the 
amount of EUR 201.9 million and granted shareholders’ loans amounting to EUR 354.6 
million.  

	 E. �The Coronavirus pandemic has created disturbance to global civilisation and the economy. 
However, the Company believes that its resilient capital structure together with the geo-
graphic, asset and tenant diversification within its real estate portfolio places it in a strong 
position to manage this currently challenging market environment.

	     �The Group’s portfolio has not seen any material deviation in top line performance across 
both the UK and Germany: all rents have been received for the UK portfolio up until and 
including June 2020 and only a small portion of tenants in Germany have requested rent 
deferrals, for which short-term solutions will be sought together with the tenant.

	    �In the UK, a number of hotel operators have secured significant revenue generating oppor-
tunities with the UK authorities to enhance their income and cash flow. The Group’s sub-
sidiaries are in close contact with its tenants, the hotel operators, that continue to stay up 
to date with new guidance and packages introduced by the UK government. Furthermore, 
the hotel operators are minimizing operational expenses at this time, including furloughing 
employees to access government funding under the COVID-19 Job Retention scheme, thus 
minimizing payroll costs.

	     �From a funding perspective, the Group has a sufficient liquidity position to cover all expected 
cash outflows for the foreseeable future, even if the current situation of the shutdowns will 
be prolonged. The shareholder group remains committed to providing adequate liquidity to 
the Group. The Group has no material debt expiring in the foreseeing future (2020-2022).

	     �The Group is continuously monitoring the portfolio for all developments regarding Covid-19 
and is following all guidance. The Group has also implemented a programme to actively 
reduce operating expenses, postpone non-essential capital expenditure where realistically 
possible and make use of any relevant facilities or arrangements provided by the various 
national authorities to assist companies through the crisis. The Group is already prepared 
to increase the scope of these measures if the crisis were to persist for an extended period.
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